Restoration of the Catarina Scallop in the Ensenada de La Paz, Mexico

All Control Value Level



A group project submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree Master of Environmental Science & Management

Nicole Corpuz, Jessica Couture, Mary Luna & Jose Zenteno Faculty Advisors: Dr. Hunter Lenihan & Dr. Jono Wilson



12 9 34 8

Bren School of Environmental Science & Management University of California, Santa Barbara Santa Barbara, CA 93106-5131

Noroeste Sustentable and the Fishermen of El Manglito

March 2014

Signature Page

The mission of the Bren School is to play a leading role in researching environmental issues, identifying and solving environmental problems, and research scientists and environmental management professionals.

Group Project: Establishing feasibility metrics and evaluating the potential for Catarina scallop (*Argopecten circularis/ventricosus*) restoration and aquaculture in the Ensenada de La Paz.

Nicole Corpuz

Mary Luna

Jose Zenteno

Consultant: Jessica Couture

The Group Project is required of all students in the Master's of Environmental Science and Management (MESM) Program. It is a three-quarter activity in which small groups of students conduct focused, interdisciplinary research on the scientific, management, and policy dimensions of a specific environmental issue.

This Final Group Project Report is authored by above MESM students and has been reviewed and approved by:

Hunter Lenihan Faculty Advisor June 2014 Jono Wilson Faculty Advisor June 2014

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank:

Dr. Jono Wilson for his dedication to building a thorough bioeconomic model, for his availability to advise us through tough times, and for his guidance throughout our entire project.

Dr. Hunter Lenihan for challenging us to think scientifically and for motivating us to broaden the way we think about environmental problems.

The Fishermen of El Manglito, especially Hubbert & Guillermo Mendez, for taking the time to perform fieldwork during harsh conditions, teaching us to understand the prospective of the fishermen, and for verifying all the facts we find in literature.

Silvia Ramirez Luna for guiding us through our investigation, providing an avenue to developing a relationship with the El Manglito fishing community, and for her passion and dedication to this restoration project.

Marisol Plascencia for supporting our work, and finding funding to fulfill our goals.

Liliana Gutierrez and Alejandro Robles for their passion for sustainable fishing communities, and for making this project possible.

Table of Contents

| Acknowledgements | |
|---|----|
| Abstract | |
| Executive Summary | |
| Project significance | |
| Objectives | |
| Background | |
| Small-scale fisheries | |
| About the Species | |
| The Catarina Scallop Fishery | |
| Causes of Collapse | |
| The Restoration of the Ensenada de La Paz | |
| Stakeholders | |
| How does the restoration work? | |
| Challenges to the effort | |
| Methods | 22 |
| Rioeconomic model | 22 |
| Hydrological Isolation | |
| Life Cycle | |
| Aquaculture | |
| Seedina | 32 |
| Recovery Scenarios | 34 |
| Model analysis | 38 |
| Outouts | 38 |
| Sensitivity Analysis | 40 |
| Monte Carlo simulation | 40 |
| | |
| Results | |
| Habitat Experiment | |
| Scallop recovery | |
| Population Growth | |
| Fishery | |
| Economic feasibility | |
| Catch value | |
| Fishery | |
| Aquaculture | |
| Habitat restoration | |
| Surveillance costs | |
| Tradeoff analysis | |

| Environmental variability | |
|--|--------|
| Restoration factors | 50 |
| Habitat | 50 |
| Surveillance | 50 |
| Aquaculture | 51 |
| Seeding | 51 |
| Discussion | 53 |
| Habitat | 53 |
| Illegal Fishing | 54 |
| Seeding | 54 |
| Aquaculture | 55 |
| Economic Feasibility | 56 |
| Habitat Restoration | 56 |
| Model Limitations | 57 |
| Catarina Market Price | 57 |
| Environmental | 58 |
| General | 58 |
| Recommendations | 60 |
| Restore the Catarina habitat in the historical fishing grounds | 60 |
| Continue to the surveillance program in the Ensenada | 61 |
| Increase the quantity of scallops seeded | 61 |
| Establish or further develop partnerships with the private sector and with the academic se | ctor61 |
| Conclusion | 63 |
| References | 64 |
| Annex 1 | 67 |
| Testing Catarina Survivorship on the Substrate of the Ensenada | 67 |
| Methods | 67 |
| Results | 68 |
| Discussion | 69 |
| Conclusion | 71 |
| Annex 2 | 72 |
| Sensitivity analysis | 72 |

Abstract

The population of the Catarina scallop, a high value species for artisanal fishers in Baja California Sur, collapsed in 1978 in the Ensenada de La Paz and has never recovered. Habitat degradation and overfishing are some of issues preventing scallop recovery. Noroeste Sustentable (NOS), a nongovernmental organization focused on community development, is working with the El Manglito fishing community in La Paz to repopulate the Ensenada with Catarina scallops, and eventually reopen the fishery. Our team developed different scenarios for the restoration effort, focusing on major population bottlenecks for recovery, including the lack of lagoon habitat, illegal fishing, and population enhancement through aquaculture. We tested the cost-benefits of each scenario using a bioeconomic model that we created to simulate conditions influencing scallops in the lagoon. To better parameterize the model, we conducted a field experiment to assess the survival rate of the scallops on the Ensenada seafloor in different habitat types. We compared a total of 15 restoration scenarios, each a unique combination of different levels of habitat restoration, aquaculture intensity, surveillance, and seeding. The results indicate that habitat and its restoration has the greatest influence on the population biomass of scallops. The results also suggest that aquaculture is not economically feasible. We thus recommend that NOS focus their efforts on carrying out a pilot habitat restoration project in the historical fishing grounds. Restoration efforts would also benefit from continued surveillance to discourage illegal fishing and scallop seeding from aquaculture production for a minimum of 3 years, preferably at a higher quantity of scallops per year than 340,000. Future research should evaluate the current level of the suitable habitat, and the feasibility of different habitat restoration methodologies.

Executive Summary

Our project focuses on the Catarina scallop, *Argopecten ventricosus*, a species with high cultural and commercial value in Baja California Sur, Mexico. The importance of this species is reflected by its presence in the Baja California Sur flag. Historically abundant in the wild, the fishery today is nearly depleted. The restoration of the Catarina fishery in the Ensenada is expected to strengthen the property rights of local fishers, to restore this native species to its historical range, to support the recovery of other species, such as the pen shell clam, and to generate jobs. In this way, fishermen and the local community stand to gain from a restored native fishery and a sustainable aquaculture industry in the Ensenada.

The objective of this project is to identify restoration strategies to restore the Catarina scallop population to a sustainable level in the Ensenada de La Paz, which could ultimate contribute to bringing economic benefits to the community of El Manglito. In order to achieve these objectives, we must take a look at the life cycle and history of the Catarina scallop in Baja California Sur.

The Catarina scallop, *Argopecten ventricosus*, is a bay scallop found in near shore shallow lagoons. Reaching sexual maturity around 6 months, each scallop produces up to 2-3 million eggs and ultimately settles on shell hash, seagrass, and algal turf. The scallop reaches an adult size of 56 mm in approximately 1 year. The life span of the Catarina scallop is 2-3 years and can reach a height of 80mm. Sensitive to sedimentation, water quality, and illegal fishing, the Catarina is vulnerable to environmental perturbations. Ranging from Northern Peru to Northern Mexico, the Catarina scallop is heavily fished, which over time has led to local extinctions in Panama and several locations in Baja California Sur. Our research focuses on the Catarina scallop in the Ensenada de La Paz, in Baja California Sur, Mexico. The Ensenada was once the main fishing ground for the Catarina scallop in Baja California Sur, until the population collapsed in 1979. Habitat degradation and overfishing are some of issues preventing scallop recovery.

Noroeste Sustentable (NOS), a non-governmental organization focused on community development, is located in the fishing community of El Manglito, just outside the city center of La Paz. NOS and El Manglito fishermen are working together to restore and repopulate the lagoon with Catarina scallops to levels high enough to reopen the fishery. Together they have developed a repopulation model in which the fishermen receive Catarina scallop seeds and raise the seed in a nursery until they reach a size of roughly 10 mm. The juveniles are transferred into corrals until they reach a size of 30 mm. when they are collected and released in the Ensenada. The goal is to seed enough mature scallops to reproduce and repopulate the Ensenada with Catarina scallops. Some of the challenges to the restoration effort are community engagement and illegal fishing. It is estimated that illegal fishing makes up for 40% for scallops fisheries. This event, along with the illegal fishing of the Pen Shell scallop, led to the development of a surveillance team of local fishermen.

Since our study aims to identify restoration strategies that would repopulate the Ensenada to a sustainable level, we identified major population bottlenecks that may inhibit recovery and also mechanisms that may enhance the recovery. The lack of settlement habitat in the Ensenada may pose a threat to recovery by not providing enough substrate for Catarina recruits to settle. Illegal fishing continues to occur, despite enforcement, resulting in the poaching of seeded scallops. We would also like to investigate increasing the length and quantity of scallops seeded into the wild as a manner in

which to speed up the restoration. Finally, we would like to explore the idea that aquaculture could generate a source of income for the fishermen during the restoration effort.

In order to analyze these effects, we created a bioeconomic model to simulate conditions influencing the Catarina scallop population in the lagoon. We used life-cycle parameters and relationships to develop an age-structured population model. This population model builds upon the Von Bertalanffy growth function, the Beverton-Holt stock-recruitment relationship, length-weight relationship, fecundity, maturity, natural mortality, fishing mortality, and illegal fishing mortality. We assume that the starting population is zero and use a total of 4 age classes (0-3 years). Each time interval in the model represents 1 year, and the population was simulated through 100 years.

Within the model we tested 15 restoration scenarios, each a unique combination of different levels of habitat restoration, aquaculture intensity, surveillance and seeding. The costs and benefits were analyzed for each restoration scenario. Since illegal harvest continues to occur in the Ensenada, we can expect that illegal fishing will occur at every stage of the project and continue to occur when the fishery opens. We assume that the intensity of illegal fishing would depend on the level of surveillance and its effectiveness and thus we modeled 3 levels of illegal fishing: 40%, 20% and 5%. We use recruitment as a proxy for habitat availability. Since there is a lack of historical landing data, we used the estimated quantity of scallops during the final year the fishery was open as a reference for historical abundance. We consider this baseline to be conservative. For our analysis, we assume that current available habitat represents 30% of the habitat available in the final year the fishery was open. We varied the habitat availability at 30%, 60% and 100% to represent current levels of habitat. To model the intensity of aquaculture operation in the bioeconomic model we designed three levels of aquaculture intensity at 0, 580,000, and 2,320,000. In both these aquaculture levels, the scallops would be matured in the cages to the 56 mm legal size and then harvested for sale. To model the effect of seeding on the Catarina population recovery in the bioeconomic model we designed four levels of seeding. Level 1 assumes an annual quantity of 340,000 for one year, level 2 assumes 340,000 scallops per year, for three years, level 3 assumes 680,000 scallops per year, for three years, and Level 4 assumes 680,000 scallops per year, for 6 years.

The 15 scenarios produced outputs of population biomass (B/B0), average catch value, fishery net present value (NPVw), aquaculture net present value (NPVaq), restoration investment, fishery net present value (NPVw)/fishery NPVmax, Years to carrying capacity (K), and years to 25% population biomass (B/B0). A sensitivity analysis was used to test the sensitivity of our model to changes in input values known to have high uncertainty and in order to incorporate the effect of environmental stochasticity into the population biomass, we conducted a Monte Carlo simulation to reflect this stochasticity through natural mortality in the model.

According to our model, the scallop population is expected to recover from depletion, but at different rates and achieving different population sizes depending on the restoration strategy used. The biomass varies between 0.19 and 0.96. The highest population biomass (>90%) is reached by only 5 scenarios, all of which have in common that scallop habitat is restored up to 100% of the historical levels. Alternatively, low-performing scenarios have usually lower levels of suitable habitat, relative to historical levels. We found that the strategies that achieve smaller population sizes reach a stable level faster, and bigger ones take more time to reach their carrying capacity, however, with significant variability. The fishery was modeled to open after the population grows over a threshold of 25% of theoretical virgin conditions. Our analysis shows that when the fishery opens, all scenarios that open are able to maintain a population size above the threshold, with the exception of one scenario. However,

five restoration strategies are never able to reach a population size above the threshold, which have in common low levels of suitable habitat. Not surprisingly, restoration strategies that attain a higher biomass while the fishery remains closed are able to maintain a bigger population that is subject of both legal and illegal fishing. How soon the fishery opens can affect how the population recovers. However, eventually in all cases the population stabilizes at around 20 years assuming a legal fishing rate of 60%.

With an average local market price of US\$0.63/K of whole scallops with shell, and a legal fishing level of 60% of the scallops over the legal size limit (56 mm), fishermen would obtain in average between US\$39,801 and US\$124,333 per year from selling the scallop harvest. Fishery NPV ranges from (-6,747,399.46) to \$175,291.54 and fishery income NPV ranges from (-\$242,302.57) to \$1,769,984.47. Scenarios with a negative fishery income are scenarios in which the fishery never opens and do not invest in habitat restoration. The scenarios with the highest fishery income NPV have high restoration investments, restoring the habitat to either 60% or 100%. NPV Ratios over 0.5 involve habitat restoration of 100%. Aquaculture NPV ranged from (-\$11,340,280.19) to \$0.00. The Aquaculture NPV is directly correlated with the quantity of scallops produced in aquaculture. The scenarios with a negative NPV fail to reach a B/B₀ of 0.25, thus, the fisheries in these scenarios do not open, resulting in an investment in restoration, with no returns on investment. In contrast, the scenarios with the highest range from \$0 to \$7,584,351.93 while mean catch value per year ranges from \$0 to \$207,221.68. Lastly, our analysis shows a relationship between mean catch value and habitat restoration investment.

Our results indicate that habitat area appears to be the most important factor in restoring the scallop population across the different strategies. However, we assume that the current suitable habitat is at 30% of the 100% historical pre-collapse level. This is an assumption with high uncertainty given that we currently have no evidence to back our assumption that habitat is indeed at 30%. We also find that Illegal fishing has more of an observed effect on population recovery than seeding and aquaculture, but its effects on either population size or rate of recovery seems to be moderated by other restoration variables and by habitat. We found that seeding of juveniles into the wild is extremely important for the recovery of the scallop population in the Ensenada. Once past the initial seeding, our results indicate that after 3 years, seeding has less of an observed effect on population recovery than habitat and surveillance, and a similar effect to that of aquaculture. The negative values of Aquaculture NPV demonstrate that, under the current costs of production, aquaculture does not provide a profit for the fishermen. Doubling the density or doubling the percentage of aquaculture area may allow fishermen to make a profit, however, the complexities of transitioning livelihoods from fishing to aquaculture farming should also be considered.

Our study concludes that habitat restoration is necessary for the fishery to generate profit. According to our client, the fishery must generate at least \$443,077 in revenue per year to sustain the livelihood of the El Manglito fishing community. Among our scenarios, the maximum mean catch value per year is \$207,221.68, which is less than half the target value. Although the Catarina fishery can potentially generate profits, it is not sufficient enough for the fishermen to depend only on Catarina scallops. The limitations of our analysis are that we assume that biomass is limited to that of the final year when the fishery was open. The scenarios with negative NPVs are also limited by the assumption that in our model the fishery will open when the biomass arrives at 0.25. Additionally, our sensitivity analysis reveals that reductions in price per kilogram are expected to have a larger impact on the NPV of the fishery. Ultimately, the Catarina fishery has the potential to become economically feasible, especially if restored simultaneously with the Pen Shell clam. According to our results, the biggest obstacle in achieving economic feasibility is the capital to complete habitat restoration.

We recommend restoring the Catarina habitat in the historical fishing grounds and to conduct further research to assess the best strategy to restore habitat. This can be done through the partnerships that NOS has developed with the Bren School, the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, or the Universidad Autonoma de Baja California Sur. Additionally we recommend that the fishermen continue the surveillance program in the Ensenada. Additionally, the efforts by NOS and some of the local fishers to raise awareness among the community about the restoration of the Ensenada should continue as they help support the surveillance program. Since our sensitivity analysis shows that natural mortality is more important than illegal fishing, we recommend continuing the seeding effort and increasing the quantity seeded by more than 340,000. Continuing to plant scallops at a size of 30 mm will contribute to lower mortality. In addition, maturing the scallops inside cages over restored substrate may help decrease predation, and increase survival as more larvae are able to recruit to the next generation. Lastly, we recommend that NOS continue to establish or further develop partnerships with the private sector and with the academic sector. Community engagement, in the vision of restoring the Ensenada and the Catarina population, is paramount in making restoration efforts successful in the long term. Nevertheless, we must also continue to recognize that working with community members to create new job sources through the diversification of the use of marine resources is essential in ensuring a successful and long lasting restoration.

Project significance

This project focuses on the recovery of a collapsed marine resource and associated artisanal fishery. Although focused on the population of one marine species, the Catarina scallop *Argopecten circularis/ventricosus*, its recovery has larger implications for the coastal lagoon ecosystem and the fishing community who have lived around and depended on it for generations. Populations of this species have collapsed in the Las Perlas Archipelago in Panama (Medina et al., 2007), and in the Ensenada de La Paz, in Baja California Sur, Mexico (Baqueiro et al., 1981); in the case of the Ensenada the population has not yet recovered. As a result, the Catarina fishery and the socioeconomic benefits derived from it disappeared as the community observed the deterioration of the Ensenada marine ecosystem, and local fishermen migrated to other areas to fish. During the last few years some of these fishermen and their families have formed alliances with the local non-government organization Noroeste Sustentable (NOS), and have started an aquaculture project to repopulate the Ensenada with Catarina scallops. Quantitatively analyzing the outcomes of recovery, under different circumstances and using different strategies, will assist these stakeholders in optimizing the recovery of the Catarina population.

This analysis is of particular significance to fishermen and businesses whose income depends on the commercialization of benthic resources such as the Catarina scallop, and to the federal and state fisheries agencies that seek to balance the conservation of marine resources with job generation. This analysis is also of particular significance to non-profit organizations that seek to partner with fishermen and local communities to rebuild collapsed or depleted benthic species of commercial importance using aquaculture.

Our evaluation of different restoration strategies through a bioeconomic model will help optimize current and future efforts to recover the Catarina population. The recovery of the Catarina scallop will be a significant step in increasing social capital and collaboration, and in getting closer to achieving the goal of restoring the marine ecosystem of the Ensenada de La Paz. As an organization focused on enhancing ecosystem health and social cohesion, NOS is responsible for catalyzing the restoration efforts by engaging the local community in aquaculture and surveillance efforts, and by encouraging communication among fishermen who were previously adversaries. By identifying the optimal combination of restoration strategies, our project deliverables will allow NOS to generate results sooner and thus increase the willingness of the local community to continue their efforts to restore the Ensenada as a whole. As one of many locations in Northwestern Mexico characterized by dwindling marine resources, the Ensenada will serve as a source of inspiration for other communities who seek to bring these resources back.

Objectives

The goal of this project is to develop and evaluate alternative restoration strategies, and provide recommendations that: 1) optimize the recovery of the Catarina scallop population and 2) maximize economic benefits to the local community brought about by the expected recovery. This assessment will provide our client with a tool to prioritize restoration initiatives and resources. More specifically we focus on the following objectives:

- Identify the existing biological, economic and social bottlenecks affecting the restoration and aquaculture of *Argopecten ventricosus*.
- Determine indicators of biological and economic feasibility for the restoration of the scallop population.
- Evaluate the current conditions of different habitat types in the Ensenada to support the growth and survival of the scallop.
- Simulate the dynamics of a Catarina scallop population using life-cycle parameters for the species.
- Develop and evaluate different restoration scenarios or strategies that reflect the array of possibilities for the restoration project.
- Identify and provide recommendations on the most important factors or actions for the successful recovery and sustainable management of its fishery.

Background

Small-scale fisheries

The ocean provides us with a variety of goods and services, some of which include employment and food. Seafood is the main source of protein for more than one billion people and accounts for 20% of global protein consumption (Gaines, 2014). To date, roughly 300 million people fish for an income, 90% of which fish in small-scale fisheries (Kalikoski, 2012). As the human population steadily rises, global demand for fish protein will only increase, leaving fisheries vulnerable to depletion. Small-scale fisheries are especially susceptible due to lack of resources for effective management, leading to fishery failures, which can have a strong social and economic impact on fishermen livelihoods.

Fisheries managers attempt to mitigate decline by maintaining target species abundance, establishing quotas, employing territorial use rights fisheries (TURFs), and implementing Marine Protected Areas (MPAs). However, these methods may not be sufficient to recover a collapsed population. In these cases, restoration may be necessary. When considering restoration, some questions may include:

- Has the ecosystem changed so much that the population cannot recover?
- What cultural or institutional obstacles might exist?
- Do we know enough about the life cycle of the species?
- Is there funding and support for a recovery effort?

About the Species

The Catarina scallop, Argopecten ventricosus, is a bay scallop that is found in near shore shallow lagoons (Figure 1B). Reaching sexual maturity around 6 months, each scallop produces up to 2-3 million eggs during each spawn (Blue Ocean Institute, 2012). The Catarina scallop has a larval duration in the water column for 12-30 days until it ultimately settles on shell hash, seagrass, and algal turf (Maeda-Martinez et al., 1993). The scallop reaches a recruitment size of 30 mm in 60-75 days and ultimately reaches an adult size of 56 mm in 1 year. The life span of the



Figure B1. Juvenile Catarina scallops. Photo Credit: Nicole Corpuz.

Catarina scallop is 2-3 years and can reach a height of 80 mm (Felix-Pico, 1994).

Sensitive to sedimentation, water quality, and illegal fishing, the Catarina is vulnerable to environmental perturbations (Felix-Pico, 1994). Ranging from Northern Peru to Northern Mexico, the Catarina scallop is heavily fished, which over time has led to local extinctions in Panama and several locations in Baja California Sur (Leon-Carballo et al., 1991). Our research focuses on the Catarina scallop in the Ensenada de La Paz, located with the Bay of La Paz, in Baja California Sur, Mexico. The Ensenada was once the main fishing ground for the Catarina scallop in Baja California Sur, until the population collapsed in 1979 (Baqueiro et al., 1981).

The Catarina Scallop Fishery

The Catarina scallop fishery in Baja California Sur runs on a basin-specific total allowable catch system (TAC) with a minimum catch size in the Ensenada de La Paz of 56 mm. When the fishery is open, the Regional Fisheries Research Centers allow 60% of the total Catarina biomass at or above the commercial

size to be fished in a given area (SAGARPA). The Catarina scallop is hand caught by divers, resulting in minimal to no bycatch and negligible environmental impact to the seafloor given the type of substrate on which it is generally found (Blue Ocean Institute, 2012). The Catarina scallop was one of the most important fished species of mollusk for the fishermen of El Manglito, a small community of fishermen in La Paz, from its peak in the 1950's



Figure B2. Historical Catarina Fishing grounds according to Baqueiro et al. (1981) and Yoshida (1977).

until its ultimate depletion in 1978, when the density declined to zero organisms per square meter (Baqueiro et al., 1981). After the fishery closed in 1979 in the Ensenada de La Paz, the fishery migrated to other parts of Baja California Sur and continued to deplete Catarina resources in Bahia Concepcion, Ojo de Libre Lagoon, San Ignacio Lagoon, and Bahia Magdalena. Today, the Catarina scallop fishery remains closed in the Ensenada de La Paz.

Causes of Collapse

Hurricane Liza

Hurricane Liza, rated as a Category 4, passed near the town of La Paz in October 1976. News sources report that hurricane Liza produced an 8-foot storm surge, flooding the city and causing the dike of the El Cajoncito creek to overflow and burst (Figure 2B). 20,000 people were left homeless, mudslides killed hundreds of people and lots of sediment was dumped into the Ensenada (Yates, 1976). According to local fishermen, this sudden deposit of sediment would have severely modified the habitat for scallops, making it not hospitable for the population anymore (Mendez, 2013).



Figure B3. Hurricane Liza broke the El Cajoncito dam, causing widespread flooding throughout La Paz. Photo courtesy of Harry Merrick.

Overfishing

Although a total allowable catch (TAC) was implemented and permission was required to fish for the Catarina scallop, records show that reported landing data was not accurate in estimating exactly how much Catarina was extracted from fishing grounds. The scallop was fished without permission, lacked accurate reports on the actual amount of Catarina landed, and fished while the fishery is closed. Many academics and government officials believe this is the reason for the depletion in, and inability of the Catarina scallop to repopulate the Ensenada de La Paz. (Baqueiro, et al. 1981)

Pollution

There is a lack of published literature on this topic, but it is worth noting that many fishermen and other stakeholders mention that historically, raw sewage from the local sanitation plant was released directly into the Ensenada. Today, a wastewater treatment plant exists; however the fishermen we interviewed believe that during seasons of high rainfall, the wastewater storage facility overflows and untreated water runoff flows into the Ensenada. It is possible that a combination of Hurricane Liza, overfishing and water pollution ultimately caused the local extinction of the Catarina Scallop in the Ensenada. With a combination of abrupt changes in the substrate, changes in water temperature, and poorly regulated fishing, it is easy to see how the substrate could have changed to become an inhospitable environment for the settlement of Catarina recruits. With the hurricane event in 1976 and the Catarina's ultimate depletion in 1978, it is likely that the scallop was not able to successfully reproduce before the adult population died.

The Restoration of the Ensenada de La Paz

Stakeholders

Noroeste Sustentable (NOS)

Noroeste Sustentable is a non-governmental organization focused on sustainable community development for fishing communities in the northwestern part of Mexico. Located in the fishing community of El Manglito, NOS has been working in the Ensenada for the past ten years. NOS and fishermen are working together to restore and repopulate the lagoon not only with Catarina scallops but also other benthic resources to levels high enough to reopen the fishery.

The restoration of the Catarina scallop in the Ensenada is an initiative of high importance to NOS, and was conceived through participative and collective reflections with fishermen. These stakeholders see the restoration as an intervention that can create systemic change in the fishery system of Bay of La Paz. NOS aims to ensure that fishermen proposals, such as the restoration of the Catarina fishery, materialize and improve through collective learning. As this process moves forward the community is expected to develop a greater ownership over their resources.

NOS staff includes managers, scientists and fishermen who hold fishing concessions in the Ensenada. The staff collectively has deep environmental, socioeconomic, and legal knowledge about local conditions. In addition, NOS has close ties to Mexican government institutions, such as the Center for Biological Investigation in the Northwest (CIBNOR), the Interdisciplinary Center for Marine Science (CICIMAR) and the Universidad Autonoma de Baja California Sur (UABCS). These institutions have resources dedicated to aquaculture and fisheries research and continue to contribute valuable information and skills to this project.

El Mangle Center

Other stakeholders include El Mangle Center, a recently established campus dedicated to providing space and resources to engage civil society in restoring natural environments to promote economic and civil wellbeing. Funded by the Walton Foundation, El Mangle partnered in 2012 with NOS and 80 local fishermen on a large-scale project to clean the Ensenada.

El Manglito Fishermen

With over 100 fishermen with close family ties, El Manglito is a small community located just outside the city center of La Paz. While one hundred and seven of these fishermen are members of one of the twelve cooperatives of El Manglito, many others are not (Noroeste-Sustentable, 2014). The restoration of the Catarina fishery in the Ensenada is expected to strengthen the property rights of local fishers, to support the recovery of other species, such as the pen shell clam, and to generate jobs. In this way, fishermen and the local community stand to gain from a restored native fishery and a sustainable aquaculture industry in the Ensenada. The Catarina scallop fishery has therefore been an important part of the regional economy for more than half a century and part of the local cultural heritage for much longer.

How does the restoration work?

NOS and the fishermen use a special exploratory aquaculture permit (EAP) issued by CONAPESCA to restore the native fishery. Aquaculture can be used as a legal tool to enforce property rights and reduce illegal harvest of Catarina scallop. An EAP allows the fishermen to raise Catarina scallops in an aquaculture environment for the end goal of repopulation. Although this permit also allows the fishermen to sell the scallops, CONAPESCA collects 5% of the profit to invest in the development of research activates (FAO, 2014).

The purpose of the restoration of the Catarina scallop is two-fold: to bring community engagement to the El Manglito fishing community, and to restore the population so that the Catarina can help reduce fishing pressure on the pen shell scallop. There are several species of Pen Shell scallops: *Atrina maura, Pinna rugosa, Pinna tuberculosa,* and for none of which aquaculture methods are available. With a higher commercial value than the Catarina scallop, the Pen Shell scallops also have declining populations in the Ensenada (Noroeste-Sustentable, 2014).

The Cooperative Mangle Cenizo has an exploratory aquaculture permit valid from December 2011 to December 2016 for aquaculture within the Ensenada. Of the fisher members of the Mangle Cenizo, NOS was able to gain the support of community leaders Guillermo Mendez Camacho and Hubbert Mendez Camacho. In collaboration with NOS and the El Mangle Center, Hubbert and Guillermo piloted the first attempt to restore the Catarina scallop in 2012. Catarina scallops were grown in the Robles Aquaculture facility to juvenile size and were donated to the restoration effort.

Since that time, NOS and the fishermen have developed a different repopulation model. The fishermen now receive Catarina scallop seeds from Robles Aquaculture. These scallop seeds are raised in a nursery in the El Mangle Center, where the seeds are grown in mesh bags inside Nestier trays until they reach a size of roughly 10 mm. The juveniles are transferred into corrals until they reach a size of 30 mm. The scallops are then collected and released in the Ensenada. The goal is to seed enough mature scallops to reproduce and repopulate the Ensenada with Catarina scallops.

Challenges to the effort

Community Engagement

Running the nursery is an intensive effort and many knowledgeable hands are needed. One of the greatest challenges to the restoration effort is community engagement. NOS, Hubbert and Guillermo were able to engage 12 additional fishermen from El Manglito to join the effort. These fishermen design, build and clean cages, manage scallop densities within the nursery and corrals, and release scallops into the wild.

Surveillance and Illegal fishing

One of the biggest threats to the success of the repopulation effort is illegal fishing. In Mexico, it is estimated that illegal fishing makes up for 20% of the catch in commercial fisheries. The number is higher for scallops at 40% (Agnew et al., 2009). Illegal activity has directly impacted the Catarina restoration effort. In 2012, during the first attempt at repopulation, the nursery corral located in the Mangle Cenizo development aquaculture concession was broken into and all the scallops were taken. This event, along with the illegal fishing of the Pen Shell scallop, led to the development of a surveillance team of local fishermen. These fishermen patrol the Ensenada for illegal fishermen, locally known as *patitos*. *Patitos* typically swim from shore with snorkel, mask, fins, and extraction tools and collect scallops and clams from the Ensenada.

The controversy with *patitos* is delicate given that the definition of illegal is not very clear. Some *patitos* belong to a cooperative, however, they are fishing a resource for which the fishery is closed, or for which they do not have a fishing permit. Other *patitos* do not belong to a cooperative and are fishing for sustenance or for a small profit. To add to the complication, some *patitos* are relatives of the fishermen involved in the restoration effort. That is why it is important that the patrolman approach the illegal fishermen in a non-threatening way.

Mitigation

NOS and the fishermen collaborate to come up with mitigation techniques against these factors. After the first nursery robbery, the nursery was moved to a beachfront concession constantly under 24-hour surveillance. As of 2014, the scallop grow-out corrals were also placed in this beachfront concession in order to reduce fuel costs. In order to monitor the effectiveness of the patrolmen, each patrolmen is equipped with a GPS and has check in times and locations throughout the day.

Methods

Bioeconomic model

In order to test the impacts of different restoration strategies, we identified major population bottlenecks that would inhibit recovery. These bottlenecks (Figure M1) include the lack of settlement habitat, illegal fishing pressure, and population enhancement through seeding. We tested the costs and benefits of each restoration scenario by creating a bioeconomic model to simulate conditions influencing the Catarina scallop population in the lagoon. We tested 15 restoration scenarios, each a unique combination of different levels of habitat



Figure M1. Life cycle and limited larval supply, lack of settlement habitat, and illegal fishing pressure may be factors limiting the success of recovery.

restoration, aquaculture intensity, surveillance and seeding.

Hydrological Isolation

We assume that the Catarina scallop population in the Ensenada is hydrologically isolated from other populations in the Gulf of California. Although the fishery closed in the Ensenada after the collapse, the Catarina population has failed to recover. The larval duration of the Catarina scallop, which lasts from 12 to 30 days (Maeda-Martinez et al., 1993), and the oceanographic conditions of the Ensenada may have isolated this population from others in the Gulf of California. Simultaneously, overfishing in the Ensenada and in the adjacent Bay of La Paz may have eliminated any possibility of local self-repopulation. Studies in Florida indicate that the larval transport of the bay scallop *Argopecten irradians* from source sites is unlikely, given a larval duration of 20 days (Arnold et al., 1998). In addition, the mollusk *Littoria littorea*, which like Catarina has a veliger larval stage and period of about 30 days, has a realized (mean) dispersal distance of 40-42 km (Shanks et al., 2003). The area of the Ensenada is 42 km².

Life Cycle

In order to reflect the dynamics of a Catarina scallop population we used life-cycle parameters and relationships to develop an age-structured population model. This population model builds upon individual growth and stock-recruitment relationships, and other life history parameters. The population is modeled as a single entity, with no interaction with external populations. We assume that the starting population is zero, given the persistent absence of individuals of the species in the Ensenada after the collapse of the fishery in 1979 (Baqueiro et al., 1981). We used a total of 4 age classes (0-3 years), given that this species has an average lifespan of 2-3 years(Felix-Pico, 1994). Each time interval in the model represents 1 year, and the population was simulated through 100 years.

Von Bertalanffy Growth Function

The Von Bertalanffy growth function (VBGF) has been widely used to model individual growth in exploited fish populations (Von-Bertalanffy, 1957). Moreover, the VBGF has been reported to be an accurate descriptor of growth in scallops (MacDonald and Thompson, 1985) as well as other bivalves (Bachelet, 1980; Ceccherelli and Rossi, 1984; Griffiths, 1981). The average length at each age class was calculated as follows:

$$L_t = L_{\infty} \cdot (1 - e^{-k(t-t_0)})$$

Where L_t is the length at age t, L_{inf} is the asymptotic length, k is the growth coefficient and t_0 is the theoretical age at size zero. Input parameters of *A. ventricosus* were taken from(Felix-Pico, 1994), with the exception of t_0 , which was found to provide unrealistic growth projections. Thus, this parameter was calculated using the equation developed by Pauly (1979), which uses VBGF parameters:

$$log(-t_0) = -0.3922 - 0.2752 \cdot \log(L_{\infty}) - 1.038 \cdot \log(k)$$

Length-weight

Weight (kg) at any given age class (W_i) was calculated from the length parameter using a simple exponential relationship and the mean length estimated by the VBGF (L_i). The coefficients (a, b) for the length-weight equation were taken from Felix-Pico *et al.* (1997) (Felix-Pico *et al.*, 1997):

$$W_i = a \times L_i^{\ b}$$

Fecundity

The average number of eggs generated by individual scallops at each age class (f_i), was also estimated through an exponential relationship. Fecundity parameters for *A*. ventricosus (Villalejo-Fuerte and Ochoa-Baez, 2006) were used for the coefficient and exponent inputs, *a* and *b*, as well as the mean length at each age class (L_i):

$$f_i = a \times L_i^{b}$$

Maturity

We used the following log-growth equation to calculate maturity-at-length (m_i), which is used to estimate the reproductive output of the population. Parameters for the size at which 50% and 95% of individuals are mature, m_{50} and m_{95} , were obtained from Villalejo-Fuerte and Ochoa Baez (Villalejo-Fuerte and Ochoa-Baez, 2006):

$$m_i = \frac{1}{1 + e^{\left(\frac{(-\log(100) \times (L_i - m_{50})}{m_{95} - m_{50}}\right)}}$$

Total egg production (eggs/yr) for each year (E_t) was calculated as the multiplication between the number of individuals at each age class in that year (N_{it}) with its age-specific fecundity (f_i) and maturity (m_i):

$$E_t = \sum f_i \cdot m_i \cdot N_{it}$$

Stock-recruitment

To understand how a population reproduces and grows in time, it is fundamental to identify how the mature individuals of the population (i.e. spawning stock) and their reproductive output (i.e. eggs), translate into new young that will be added to the population. This represents nature's regulation of a population size, independent of whether or not the populations are being exploited (Sparre and Venema, 1998). This is important, assuming that the scallop population is expected to suffer from illegal and legal fishing once the fishery opens. We modeled recruitment with the function developed by (Beverton and Holt,1957):

$$R_t = \frac{E_{t-1}}{(\alpha - \beta \cdot E_{t-1})}$$

Where R_t is the numbers of recruits in year t, E_{t-1} is the number of eggs from year t-1, and $\alpha - \beta$ are parameters of the relationship. These 2 parameters were estimated as follows:

$$\alpha = E_0 \cdot \frac{1 - S}{4 \cdot S \cdot R_0}$$

$$\beta = \frac{5 \cdot (S-1)}{4 \cdot S \cdot R_0}$$

Where E_0 is maximum egg production, R_0 is maximum recruitment and S is steepness. Since virgin recruitment and egg production parameters are not available for this species, we estimated maximum egg production (E_0) and recruitment (R_0) by using historical landings reported for the final year the fishery was open in the Ensenada (Baqueiro et al., 1981). We used conservative value of steepness of 0.7, which along with our E_0 and R_0 estimates, would reduce the likelihood that our population projections would be overestimated.

Natural mortality

The survival of the population from each year to the next was determined by natural mortality (M_w) as well as legal (uL) and illegal fishing mortalities (uI) to each cohort of the current population. Since natural mortality was not available in the literature for this species, we estimated this parameter using the equation developed by Froese and Pauly (2000) (Froese and Pauly, 2000) and the L_{inf} and K parameters from the VBGF:

$$M_W = 10^{(0.566 - 0.718 \cdot \log(L_{\infty}) + 0.02T)}$$

Where T is the mean annual water temperature (24.65°C). Although this equation was developed for marine fishes, we found our estimate of M_W to be similar to the mortality of other species of scallops in the wild (Bricelj et al., 1987; Gwyther and McShane, 1988; Summerson and Peterson, 1990; Wolff et al., 2007).

Fishing

One of the main goals of the restoration project is to reopen the fishery of the Catarina scallop, which is expected to significantly contribute to the livelihoods of the local fishing community. We approached this aspect of the system by including legal and illegal fishing levels into the model.

Illegal fishing

According to our interviews with fishermen and stakeholders, illegal harvest continues to occur in the Ensenada, even while fishing has been banned for many resources. With this knowledge, we can expect that illegal fishing will occur at every stage of the project and continue to occur when the fishery opens. However, the intensity of illegal fishing would depend on the level of surveillance and its effectiveness. We modeled 3 levels of illegal fishing: 40%, 20% and 5%. We assume that in the absence of surveillance, illegal fishing would have a high impact by removing 40% of the vulnerable population (Noroeste-Sustentable, 2014), which is still below recent estimates for Mexico. If the surveillance were partial (e.g. 6 hours a day, 5 days a week), then illegal fishing would be controlled to a level of 20% of the vulnerable population, which is close to global estimates of illegal fishing for scallops(Agnew et al., 2009). If the surveillance were highly effective and with high levels of fisher engagement (e.g. twelve hours of surveillance, every day), then we expect that illegal fishing would be reduced to 5%. Even though these estimates are rough, recent evidence has shown that even low surveillance can have as significant impact in decreasing illegal fishing and poaching (Davis et al., 2004).

Fishing mortality (u)

The number of scallops removed every year by legal and illegal fishing ($F_{t,i}$) was determined by multiplying the number of scallops at each age class with size selectivity of fishing (s_L) and the level of legal fishing (u_L). The same relationship was used to calculate the removal of individuals by illegal fishing, but instead using illegal selectivity (s_I) and illegal fishing level (u_I). Both fishing mortalities were calculated in the following equation:

$$F_{t+1,i} = N_{t,i} \cdot (u_L \cdot s_L) \cdot (u_I \cdot s_I)$$

Finally, when all sources of mortality are accounted, the number of individuals for all cohorts surviving to the next year $(N_{t+1,i})$ is:

$$N_{t+1} = \sum N_{t,i} \cdot (1 - M_W) \cdot (1 - s_L \cdot u_L) \cdot (1 - s_I \cdot u_I)$$

Fishery Economics

Fishery profits are expected only during the years when the fishery is open. Since the decision to open a fishery is heavily influenced by political factors, we made the assumption that the Catarina scallop fishery would open when the population reached 25% of virgin biomass (B₀); which is a common reference limit used in the US and Canada (Hillborn et al., 2003). According to a recent report by the Centro Regional de Investigacion Pesquera (CRIP), the current regulation for the Catarina scallop fishery allows for a total quota of 60% of the individuals at and above the minimum legal size of 56 mm available for harvest in a fishing bank in the Ensenada de La Paz (Leon-Carballo et al., 1991).

Fishing revenues were calculated by using the local market price estimate (see Market Price) and the given catch at the selected fishing mortality. Illegal fishing revenues were not included in this model. In order to estimate the projected monetary value of fishing, we estimated the Net Present Value of the fishery (NPV_F) by summing discounted fishery profits (P_F) after 20 years, and using 2 discount rates: one at 3%, assuming that the restoration would be performed by the non-profit organization NOS (Libecap, 2013); and one at 14%, which is a discount rate typically applied to a for-profit business. The NPV_F was calculated as follows:

$$NPV_F = \sum \frac{P_F}{(1+r)^i}$$

Market price

We used a price of US\$ 0.63 per kg of whole scallops (with shell), based on local estimates of US\$5.38 per kilogram of scallop meat (no shell) and a ratio of 0.12 of scallop meat over total scallop weight. This ratio used our length-weight relationship for a scallop of 56 mm, and mean scallop meat weight for the species (Baqueiro et al., 1981; Felix-Pico et al., 1989).

Habitat

Through an extensive literature review, we found that both settlement and adult survival rely on appropriate habitat for many similar scallop species. Catarina larvae seek out shell for settlement and adults require more complex algal or seagrass refuges from predators (Arnold, 1995; Brumbaugh et al., 2006; Eckman, 1987; Thayer and Stuart, 1974). Historically, Catarina scallops were found in muddy portions of the Ensenada that contained a layer of shell hash as well as various species of algal turf, suggesting that this species follows the same trends defined for the similar scallop species in the reported studies (Baqueiro et al., 1981; Yoshida and Alva, 1977). Through informal interviews, fishermen suggest that habitat quality in the Ensenada has declined. In order to account for this factor in our model, we used habitat availability as a proxy for recruitment. Since Catarina scallops are aggregate settlers, we assume recruitment is limited by the level of suitable habitat. To quantify this in our model, we look at historical landing records to estimate past population size and level of recruitment.

Habitat Parameters

Since landings data is limited for Catarina scallops in the Ensenada, we used the estimated quantity of scallops landed in 1978, the final year the fishery was open, as a reference for historical abundance (H₀). We consider this baseline to be conservative since the population in 1978 was heavily exploited. According to Baqueiro et al. (1981), the population of Catarina over the legal catch size in 1978 was of approximately 19,000,000 scallops. In order to produce this quantity of adult scallops, our model estimated recruitment to be 24,000,000. Thus, our value for Virgin Recruitment (R₀) is 24,000,000, which amounted to a population size of 41,847,000 scallops. We transformed this value to Biomass using our length-weight relationship, and obtained estimate a proxy for Virgin Biomass (B₀) equal to 760,011 Kg. Using these values, we calculated current recruitment by reducing virgin recruitment (R₀) by the relative availability of habitat. For our analysis, we assume that current suitable habitat (H₁) represents 30% of the habitat available in the final year the fishery was open, thereby reducing recruitment from 24,000,000 to 7,200,000.

For our model we varied the habitat availability at 30%, 60% and 100% to represent current levels of habitat, and potential availability with moderate and intense habitat restoration, respectively. We consider 'habitat' to include both shell hash and algal turfs. With this assumption we presume that habitat that supports recruits may also provide refuge for adults, resulting in a constant natural mortality for scallops that settle in both existing and restored habitats.

Costs

In order to estimate habitat restoration costs, we assume that habitat restoration would require enhancing the substrate with shell hash to which algal turf would colonize naturally. Based on reported values for oyster restoration, which require similar practices, sources cited costs for restoration at roughly \$2,500USD per hectare (Environmental Law Institute, 2011). It is possible that other factors, such as changes in water quality, could result in recruitment limitation, however, due to the lack of data and literature on this topic we were unable to include such elements in the model.

Aquaculture

Aquaculture involves the cultivation and harvest of marine species under controlled conditions. In scallop aquaculture, the scallops are confined in cages, thus, reducing the mortality rate by providing protection from scallop predators. The government has granted exploratory aquaculture concessions to fishermen who are interested in repopulating the Ensenada coastal lagoon with Catarina. This type of aquaculture has the potential to provide greater property rights to exploratory aquaculture concession permit holders. This is especially beneficial in the Ensenada, where illegal fishing poses a significant threat to marine species of commercial value, such as the Catarina scallop.

In addition, our client NOS is currently conducting basic aquaculture operations, such as growing Catarina from seed to juvenile size in a nursery, and growing scallops to a mature size in aquaculture cages. Aquaculture offers the potential to generate revenue independent of the wild scallop fishery. This revenue could be used as an alternative source of income while wild population recovers. Scallops in aquaculture also have the potential to reproduce and release larvae outside the cages to the rest of the Ensenada. Because of these benefits, we chose to evaluate the benefits of scaling up aquaculture.

Aquaculture Parameters

The aquaculture operation involves 2 stages: the nursery stage and the aquaculture stage. Within the nursery, scallops are grown from seed of approximately 5 mm in size to juveniles of 30 mm (length of the longest rib). The nursery operation is set up in an exploratory aquaculture concession close to shore, where fishermen can easily access with snorkeling gear. In the nursery, the scallops are contained inside mesh bags stored in floating plastic trays, called Nestier cages. These Nestier cages are stacked and covered with mesh. A buoy and weight are attached to allow the setup to remain in the water column.

Once the scallops reach a size of approximately 30 mm they are transferred to exploratory aquaculture concessions where they are placed directly on the ocean seafloor, covered with a cage, and grown to or above the legal adult size of 56 mm. The cages have a PVC frame and mesh walls attached to the frame

with fishing rope. The size and shape of these cages are variable. Although few, some fishers go as far as building in a mesh bottom, lifting the cages off the seafloor, and supporting them with wooden structures. When modeling the scenarios we used the lowest mortality rate equal to 0.175, which we derived from our summer experiment, to calculate scallop mortality in the aquaculture cages.

The local fishermen have been granted 116,000 m² of exploratory aquaculture concessions. Following other examples of aquaculture in Chile, we assume that only 10% of this area would be covered with cages and called this situation high intensity aquaculture. The remaining space would be used as corridors where divers can access the cages. Assuming an optimal aquaculture density of 200 scallops per m², the maximum number of scallops that can be grown in the current aquaculture area is 2,320,000 scallops.

To model the intensity of aquaculture operation in the bioeconomic model we designed 3 levels of aquaculture intensity.

- The no-aquaculture level represents a situation in which all scallops produced in the nursery would be used to seed the wild population. The costs of operating the nursery would therefore be internalized by the wild fishery operation since it directly benefits from seeding.
- The low-intensity aquaculture level represents a situation where 580,000 scallops, 25% of the maximum number of 2.32 million, would be matured in cages to the 56 mm legal size and then harvested for sale.
- The high intensity aquaculture scenario represents a situation where 2,320,000 scallops would be matured in the cages to the 56 mm legal size and then harvested for sale. For both the low and high aquaculture intensity scenarios, the nursery would be expected to produce the corresponding number of scallops, and the cost of production would be assumed by the aquaculture operation.

Aquaculture Assumptions

One important aquaculture assumption of our bioeconomic model is that scallop in aquaculture cages would reproduce before harvest. A percentage of the larvae would recruit to the wild scallop population, while a portion of the larvae would settle within the aquaculture cage or settle in seed collection bags in the water column. We also assumed that the cages would contain a fixed density of

200 scallops/m² at any given time; the optimal stocking density according to Maeda-Martinez et al. (2000) (Maeda-Martinez et al., 2000).

Aquaculture Costs

Labor for the aquaculture operation is provided by 14 fishermen who work 6 hours a day, 5 days a week. The salary per day is USD\$ 26.53. In 2013, the first year of the nursery, the fishermen produced 340,000 scallops to a size of 30 mm. We used this value as the baseline productivity for the aquaculture operation. We assumed that the associated costs of producing the 340,000 scallops would increase linearly with aquaculture size (see Scenarios section). The cost to produce 340,000 scallops at a size of 30 mm is USD\$91,577 (Plascencia, 2014). In order to account for aquaculture production cost for the low or high intensity number of scallops, we created a correction factor dividing the desired aquaculture scallop quantity, by the base production scallop quantity.

Low intensity aquaculture level:
$$91,577 * \left(\frac{580,000 \ scallops}{340,000 \ scallops}\right) = $156,219.59$$

High intensity aquaculture level:
$$\$91,577 * \left(\frac{2,320,000 \ scallops}{340,000 \ scallops}\right) = \$624,878.35$$

We accounted for labor costs on an annual basis, while material replacement was incurred every 5 and 10 years. Revenues were calculated by multiplying the quantity of scallops at harvest size by the market price, which fluctuated between \$5.38 and \$7.69 USD per kilogram of adductor muscle. Profits were calculated by subtracting nursery costs and labor and materials from the revenue. The net present value per year was also calculated (see NPV sections). Detailed baseline production costs are listed in Table M1.

| Aquaculture | Cost (US\$) | Frequency (yr) |
|--------------------|-------------|----------------|
| Nursery | | |
| Material and gear | \$2,346.15 | 5 |
| Salaries | \$89,169.23 | 1 |
| Deadweights | \$61.54 | 10 |
| Farming | | |
| Materials and gear | \$4,153.85 | 5 |
| Maintenance | \$32,500.00 | 1 |
| Fuel | \$492.31 | 1 |

Table M1. Costs of scallop aquaculture operation in 2013

Seeding

Since the Catarina scallop population in the Ensenada de La Paz would be hydrologically isolated from other populations in Baja California Sur, we conclude that population enhancement is necessary to restart the local reproduction and recruitment processes. In addition, our client NOS has been conducting seeding operations when we started working on the restoration project. For this reason, we varied seeding lengths in years as well as quantities of scallops seeded.

Seeding Parameters

The seeding operation involves growing scallops from a spat size of 5 mm to juveniles at 30 mm in length inside Nestier cages and corrals (Figure M2). The nursery operation is set up in an exploratory aquaculture concession close to the shore, which fishermen can easily access with snorkeling gear. At the nursery the scallops are contained inside floating Nestier cages stacks, and cages made with mesh and PVC tubes, both of which are fixed with nylon ropes and concrete deadweights to the bottom, and to buoys at the surface. Once the scallops reach a size of



Figure M2. Fishermen holding Nestier tray containing juvenile scallops, which are grown in the nursery up to 30 mm. Photo credits: Daniella Rojas.

approximately 30 mm they are transferred to different areas of the Ensenada, and placed directly on the

ocean seafloor. The areas where the 30 mm scallops are seeded would be considered open access once the fishery reopens.

To model the effect of seeding on the Catarina population recovery in the bioeconomic model we designed 4 levels of seeding.

- Level 1: The Ensenada seafloor is seeded with 340,000 scallops for 1 year. Since NOS has already seeded 340,000 scallops, this would be the equivalent of NOS discontinuing seeding the seafloor with additional scallops.
- Level 2: The Ensenada seafloor is seeded with 340,000 scallops per year, for 3 years. Since NOS has already seeded 340,000 scallops this would be the equivalent of NOS seeding the seafloor for 2 more years with 340,000 scallops per year.
- Level 3: The Ensenada seafloor receives 680,000 scallops per year, for 3 years. Since NOS has already seeded 340,000 scallops this would be the equivalent of NOS seeding the seafloor for 2 more years with 680,000 scallops per year.
- Level 4: The Ensenada seafloor receives 680,000 scallops per year, for 6 years. Since NOS has already seeded 340,000 scallops this would be the equivalent of NOS seeding the seafloor for 5 more years with 680,000 scallops per year.

One important assumption is that NOS and the fishers can only obtain funding for seeding for a maximum of 6 years. Therefore, we limit seeding to 6 years.

Seeding Costs

Labor is provided by 14 fishermen, who work 6 hours a day for five days a week. The salary per day is USD\$ 26.53. In 2013, the first year of the nursery, the fishermen produced 340,000 scallops to a size of 30 mm. We used this value as the baseline productivity for the seeding operation. We assumed that the associated costs of producing the 340,000 scallops would increase linearly with the seeding quantity (see Scenarios section). The cost to produce and seed 340,000, 30 mm scallops in the nursery is \$108,073 (NOS financial report). To account for the nursery cost of producing each of the four seeding levels we created a correction factor dividing the desired seeding scallop quantity, by the base production scallop quantity. For the 1st and 2nd, and for the 3rd and 4th seeding levels the only things that varies is the number of years, and the cost of seeding is assigned per year.

1st & 2nd seeding levels:
$$108,073 * \left(\frac{340,000 \ scallops}{340,000 \ scallops}\right) = 108,073$$

$$3rd \& 4th \ seeding \ levels: \$108,073 * \left(\frac{680,000 \ scallops}{340,000 \ scallops}\right) = \$216,146$$

We accounted for labor costs on an annual basis, while material replacement was incurred every 5 and 10 years. These costs were assumed by the wild fishery since it would receive the most direct benefit from seeding (see Wild Fishery section). Detailed baseline production costs are listed in Table M2.

| Table M2. Costs of scallop seeding operation in 2013 |
|--|
| |

| Seeding | Cost (US\$) | Frequency (yr) |
|--------------------------------|-------------|----------------|
| Nursery | | |
| Material and gear | \$2,346.15 | 5 |
| Salaries | \$89,169.23 | 1 |
| Deadweights | \$61.54 | 10 |
| Transport, nursery to seafloor | | |
| Fuel & oil | \$246.15 | 1 |

Recovery Scenarios

Of all possible scenario combinations we selected 15 as the most realistic ones and most likely to occur. We then modeled the recovery of the population under each of these 15 scenarios over 100 years.

Scenario 1: During the 100 year period, all of the scallops grown in the nursery are matured in an aquaculture system that supports



Figure M3. Recovery variables and their corresponding values.

2,320,000 scallops per year. The base number of 340,000 scallops is seeded during the first year, and larval input during the next 99 years comes from the scallops inside the aquaculture cages and from the seeded scallops. The surveillance level is high resulting in 5% illegal fishing removing scallops from the

wild population, not from aquaculture. Catarina habitat is not restored and remains at its current 30% level.

Scenario 2: During the 100 year period there is no aquaculture. The base number of 340,000 scallops is seeded during the first year, and larval input during the next 99 years comes from the seeded scallops. The surveillance level is high resulting in 5% illegal fishing removing scallops from the wild population. Catarina habitat is restored to the historical level of 100%.

Scenario 3: During the 100 year period there is no aquaculture. The base number of 340,000 scallops is seeded during the first year, and larval input during the next 99 years comes from the seeded scallops. The surveillance level is medium resulting in illegal fishing of 20% illegal fishing removing scallops from the wild population. Catarina habitat is not restored and remains at its current 30% level.

Scenario 4: During the 100 year period there is no aquaculture. The base number of 340,000 scallops is seeded during the first year, and larval input during the next 99 years comes from the seeded scallops. The surveillance level is medium resulting in illegal fishing of 20% illegal fishing removing scallops from the wild population. Catarina habitat is restored to the historical level of 100%.

Scenario 5: During the 100 year period, the base number of 340,000 scallops is seeded during the first year, after that all of the scallops grown in the nursery are matured in an aquaculture system that supports 580,000 scallops per year. Larval input during the next 99 years comes from the scallops inside the aquaculture cages and from the seeded scallops. The surveillance level is low resulting in 40% illegal fishing removing scallops from the wild population, not from aquaculture. Catarina habitat is not restored and remains at its current 30% level.

Scenario 6: During the 100 year period, the base number of 340,000 scallops is seeded during the first year, after that all scallops grown in the nursery are matured in an aquaculture system that supports 2,320,000 scallops per year. Larval input during the next 99 years comes from the caged scallops and from the seeded scallops in the first year. The surveillance level is low resulting in 40% illegal fishing removing scallops from the wild population, not from aquaculture. Catarina habitat is not restored and remains at its current 30% level.

Scenario 7: During the 100 year period there is no aquaculture, and 340,000 scallops are grown in the nursery and seeded every year for a maximum of 3 years. Larval input during the next 97 years comes from the scallops seeded during the first 3 years. The surveillance level is high resulting in 5% illegal fishing removing scallops from the wild population. Catarina habitat is restored to the intermediate level of 60%.

Scenario 8: During the 100 year period, there is no aquaculture and 340,000 are grown in the nursery and seeded at 30 mm every year for a maximum of 3 years. Larval input during the next 97 years comes from the scallops seeded during the first 3 years. The surveillance level is medium resulting in 20% illegal fishing removing scallops from the wild population. Catarina habitat is not restored and remains at its current 30% level.

Scenario 9: During the 100 year period, 340,000 scallops are grown every year in the nursery and seeded at 30 mm every year for a maximum of 3 years. The nursery also provides 30 mm scallops which are later matured in an aquaculture system that supports 580,000 scallops per year. Larval input during the next 97 years comes from the scallops seeded during the first 3 years and from the scallops inside the aquaculture cages. The surveillance level is medium resulting in 20% illegal fishing removing scallops from the wild population. Catarina habitat is restored to the intermediate level of 60%.

Scenario 10: During the 100 year period there is no aquaculture, and 680,000 scallops are grown every year in the nursery and seeded at 30 mm every year for a maximum of 3 years. Larval input during the next 97 years comes from the scallops seeded during the first 3 years. The surveillance level is high resulting in 5% illegal fishing removing scallops from the wild population. Catarina habitat is restored to the historical level of 100%.

Scenario 11: During the 100 year period, 680,000 scallops are grown every year in the nursery and seeded at 30 mm every year for a maximum of 3 years. The nursery also provides 30 mm scallops which are later matured in an aquaculture system that supports 2,320,000 scallops per year. Larval input during the next 97 years comes from the scallops seeded during the first 3 years and from the scallops inside the aquaculture cages. The surveillance level is high resulting in 5% illegal fishing removing scallops from the wild population. Catarina habitat is restored to the historical level of 100%.
Scenario 12: During the 100 year period, 680,000 scallops are grown every year in the nursery and seeded at 30 mm every year for a maximum of 3 years. The nursery also provides 30 mm scallops which are later matured in an aquaculture system that supports 580,000 scallops per year. Larval input during the next 97 years comes from the scallops seeded during the first 3 years and from the scallops inside the aquaculture cages. The surveillance level is medium resulting in 20% illegal fishing removing scallops from the wild population. Catarina habitat is restored to the intermediate level of 60%.

Scenario 13: During the 100 year period there is no aquaculture, and 680,000 scallops are grown every year in the nursery and seeded at 30 mm every year for a maximum of 6 years. Larval input during the next 97 years comes from the scallops seeded during the first 6 years. The surveillance level is high resulting in 5% illegal fishing removing scallops from the wild population. Catarina habitat is restored to the intermediate level of 60%.

Scenario 14: During the 100 year period there is no aquaculture, and 680,000 scallops are grown every year in the nursery and seeded at 30 mm every year for a maximum of 6 years. The nursery also provides 30 mm scallops, which are later matured in an aquaculture system that supports 580,000 scallops per year. Larval input during the next 97 years comes from the scallops seeded during the first 6 years and from the scallops inside the aquaculture cages. The surveillance level is high resulting in 5% illegal fishing removing scallops from the wild population. Catarina habitat is restored to the historical level of 100%.

Scenario 15: During the 100 year period there is no aquaculture, and 680,000 scallops are grown every year in the nursery and seeded at 30 mm every year for a maximum of 6 years. Larval input during the next 97 years comes from the scallops seeded during the first 6 years. The surveillance level is low resulting in 40% illegal fishing removing scallops from the wild population. Catarina habitat is not restored and remains at its current 30% level.

Table M3. Fifteen restoration scenarios varying seeding period, seeding quantity, illegal fishing pressure, virgin habitat area, and aquaculture intensity .

Restoration Scenarios

| Scenario | Description | Outplanting period (years) | Outplanting quantity | lllegal fishing pressure | Virgin habitat area | Aquaculture intensity |
|----------|---|----------------------------------|-------------------------|--------------------------------|---------------------------|--------------------------|
| 1 | Heavy aquaculture and heavy surveillance | 1 | 340,000 | 0.05 | 0.3 | 3 |
| 2 | Heavy surveillance and heavy habitat restoration | 1 | 340,000 | 0.05 | 1 | 1 |
| 3 | Mild surveillance | 1 | 340,000 | 0.2 | 0.3 | 1 |
| 4 | Mild surveillance and heavy habitat restoration | 1 | 340,000 | 0.2 | 1 | 1 |
| 5 | Mild aquaculture; no surveillance or habitat restoration | 1 | 340,000 | 0.4 | 0.3 | 2 |
| б | Heavy aquaculture | 1 | 340,000 | 0.4 | 0.3 | 3 |
| 7 | Heavy surveillance, mild habitat restoration | 3 | 340,000 | 0.05 | 0.6 | 1 |
| 8 | Mild surveillance | 3 | 340,000 | 0.2 | 0.3 | 1 |
| 9 | Mild surveillance, mild habitat restoration, mild aquaculture | 3 | 340,000 | 0.2 | 0.6 | 2 |
| 10 | Heavy surveillance and heavy habitat restoration | 3 | 680,000 | 0.05 | 1 | 1 |
| 11 | Heavy surveillance, heavy habitat restoration and heavy aquaculture | 3 | 680,000 | 0.05 | 1 | 3 |
| 12 | aquaculture | 3 | 680,000 | 0.2 | 0.6 | 2 |
| 13 | Heavy surveillance, heavy habitat restoration | 6 | 680,000 | 0.05 | 1 | 1 |
| 14 | Heavy surveillance, heavy habitat restoration, and mild aquaculture | б | 680,000 | 0.05 | 1 | 2 |
| 15 | Heavy outplanting only | 6 | 680,000 | 0.4 | 0.3 | 1 |

Model analysis

Outputs

Population Biomass (B/B₀)

In order to identify the success of each restoration scenario, we compare the biomass (B) at any given year to a baseline biomass (B_0). We define the baseline biomass (B_0) as the Virgin Biomass, from the total population of scallops during the final year the fishery was open. This gives us the ratio B/ B_0 . We display the population in ratio form because our goal is to compare restoration strategies, not to provide

precise values of population biomass or economic returns. By graphing the B/B_0 of each scenario for each year, we are able to track the population growth over time.

Average Catch Value

Average Catch Value is calculated by taking the average revenue of the annual catches from the wild fishery over the course of 50 years. This value allows us to identify the amount each scenario could possibly generate.

Fishery Net Present Value (NPVw)

The fishery Net Present Value is the sum of the profits derived from wild caught scallops over 20 years, discounted at a rate of 3%. NPVw is used to determine the worth of the wild fishery in a given scenario.

Aquaculture Net Present Value (NPVaq)

The Aquaculture Net Present Value is the sum of the profits derived from the sale of scallops raised in aquaculture, discounted at a rate of 3%. NPVaq is used to determine the worth of the aquaculture operation in a given scenario.

Restoration Investment

We assume restoration would only occur in the historical fishing grounds because the highest scallop densities have been found there in the past (Yoshida and Alva, 1977). The cost to restore the historical fishing grounds in the Ensenada is USD\$10,834,788.48. In any given scenario, the restoration costs can vary from USD\$0 for scenarios without restoration, or USD\$ \$3,250,436.54 for scenarios restored to 60% virgin habitat, to \$10,834,788.48 for scenarios with 100%. These values represent the amount of restoration investment that must be made to recover the habitat to either 60% or 100% of the condition in 1978 prior to the collapse of the Catarina fishery.

Fishery NPV/Fishery NPVmax

In order to compare the value of the wild fishery for each scenario, we compare the NPVw of a given scenario against the NPVw of the scenario with the highest value. This approach allows us to analyze how productive each scenario could be in relation to the productivity of the most productive scenario.

Years to Carrying Capacity (K)

Carrying Capacity (K) is defined as the maximum number of individuals a population size can sustain. This value is defined by identifying the year in which the population stabilizes for a given scenario. This value allows us to know how long it would take to reach 100% recovery.

Years to 25% Population Biomass (B/B₀)

For our analysis, we assume that the fishery will open when the population reaches 25% of Virgin Biomass. This value is defined by identifying which year the population reaches 25% of the biomass ratio B/B_0 .

Sensitivity Analysis

A sensitivity analysis was used to test the sensitivity of our model to changes in input values known to have high uncertainty. We ran 2 sensitivity analyses: 1) by varying the range of values of Illegal fishing against a range of values for natural mortality, and 2) by varying the range of values for scallop price against the values for costs of habitat restoration. The analysis identified which parameters affect the output of our model the most, and also which parameters have the greatest impact on recovery.

Monte Carlo simulation

In order to incorporate the effect of environmental stochasticity into the population biomass, we conducted a Monte Carlo simulation to reflect this stochasticity through natural mortality in the model. We chose natural mortality because the sensitivity analysis identified our model to be most sensitive to this parameter. We tested different levels of stochasticity to analyze the effect of lower and higher frequency and intensity of common climatic impacts occurring in the region, such as hurricanes.

Results

Habitat Experiment

We found that scallops can survive and grow on various types of habitat and substrate in the Ensenada. The survival rate varied from 85% near the historical fishing grounds to 6.25% in the aquaculture concession site (Figure R1, Annex 1). The Deep site showed a survival rate of 0%, where no scallops were found in the cages or in the vicinities. Scallop growth showed lower variation, with growth rates that ranged between 1.7 to 2.2 mm/week in shell length, with the highest being in the concession site near to the beach. Interestingly, higher survival and growth rates were associated with habitats composed mainly by shell and seagrass and/or algal turf cover.



Figure R1. Survival of scallops after 4 weeks at the four experimental sites in the Ensenada.

Scallop recovery

Population Growth

According to our model, the scallop population is expected to recover from depletion, but at different rates and achieving different population sizes depending on the restoration strategy used. **Figure R2** displays the relative biomass curve (i.e. Biomass ratio, B/B_{max}) of each scenario over time, when the population remains 'unfished'. This means that legal fishing was not allowed (i.e. fishery remains closed), but illegal fishing does occur. When comparing the performance of all





scenarios, they show large differences in their relative biomass, which vary between 0.19 and 0.96. This analysis considers that a Biomass ratio of 1 represents the maximum biomass a scallop population could reach in the Ensenada, in relation to historical landings data (see Methods).

Under all scenarios, the population ultimately recovers and stabilizes at carrying capacity, which was different for every scenario (Table R1). Given the conditions we established in our scenarios, the catarina scallop population would take between 7 and 18 years to recover, with a median of 13 years. The high performing scenarios also take a relatively longer time to achieve. In general, we found that the strategies that achieve smaller population sizes reach a stable level faster, and bigger ones take more time to reach their carrying capacity (Figure R4). However, there is significant variability, with some high-biomass. Also, the highest population biomass (>90%) are reached by only 5 scenarios (2, 10, 11, 13, 14), all of which have in common that scallop habitat was increased up to the same level of the historical habitat. On the other hand, low-performing scenarios usually lower levels of available habitat, relative to historical levels. However, there is inter-scenario variability that would not be explained by the amount of available habitat.



Figure R3. Scallop biomass growth in time for all restoration strategies (N=15), with fishing. In this simulation, both illegal (at different levels) and legal fishing (0.6) are occurring.



Figure R4. Relationship between relative biomass and the time it takes to each population to reach carrying capacity.

Table R1. Relative biomass for each restoration strategy. The 'unfished' biomass considers the legal fishery to be closed, while for the 'fished' biomass the population is subject to both types of fishing.

| Scenario | %Historical habitat | Biomass 'unfished' | Biomass 'fished' | Years to K |
|----------|------------------------|-----------------------|---------------------|------------|
| 1 | 30% | 0.30 | 0.23 | 12 |
| 2 | 100% | 0.94 | 0.70 | 17 |
| 3 | 30% | 0.24 | 0.24 | 15 |
| 4 | 100% | 0.79 | 0.61 | 18 |
| 5 | 30% | 0.19 | 0.19 | 9 |
| 6 | 30% | 0.20 | 0.20 | 7 |
| 7 | 60% | 0.56 | 0.42 | 14 |
| 8 | 30% | 0.24 | 0.24 | 15 |
| 9 | 60% | 0.48 | 0.38 | 12 |
| 10 | 100% | 0.94 | 0.70 | 16 |
| 11 | 100% | 0.96 | 0.73 | 13 |
| 12 | 60% | 0.48 | 0.38 | 12 |
| 13 | 100% | 0.94 | 0.70 | 16 |
| 14 | 100% | 0.94 | 0.71 | 13 |
| 15 | 30% | 0.18 | 0.18 | 10 |

Fishery

The fishery was modeled to open after the population grows over a safe threshold (B/B_{MAX} > 0.25), which was used as a reference point for overfishing (FAO 1996). If the population is subject to both types of fishing, their effect is readily apparent on the population growth curves (**Figure R3**). There, the biomass reaches a relatively lower stable point due to the fishing pressure removing significant portions of the population every year. With the fishery open, all scenarios are able to maintain a population size above the threshold, with the exception of scenario 2 (**Table R1**). However, many restoration strategies (33%) are never able to reach a population size above the



Figure R5. Relationship between relative biomass and the time it takes for scenarios to reach a population biomass over the fishery threshold. In some cases the fishery never opens.



Figure R6. Relative biomass in time for one scenario (#2), with the fishery opening at different years (1, 5, 10, 15 or never opening at all). Here, the fishery threshold does not apply.

threshold (i.e. scenarios 3, 5, 6, 8, 15), which have in common low habitat availability (30% of historical levels). When habitat is restored at 100% or at 60%, it allows the population to reach the 0.25 fishery threshold in six years.

Not surprisingly, restoration strategies that attain a higher biomass while the fishery remains closed are also the same that are able to maintain a bigger population that is the subject of both legal and illegal fishing. How soon the fishery opens can affect how the population recovers. If the fishery threshold is no longer considered, and the population is

modeled to open at different points in time arbitrarily, then the recovery paths of the population vary (**Figure R6**). Only when the fishery remains closed for 15 years there is an apparent effect over the population. However, eventually in all cases the population stabilizes with fishing at around 20 years.

Economic feasibility

Catch value

Higher population sizes would render higher catch value for fishermen if the fishery opens. With an average local market price of US\$0.63/K of whole scallops with shell, and a fishing level of 60% of the scallops over the legal size limit (56 mm), fishermen would obtain in average between US\$39,801 and US\$124,333 per year by the sell of the scallop catch (**Table R2**). However, the selling price of the scallops would significantly affect the



Figure R7. Annual value of the scallop catch at different selling prices. Catch is assumed to be fixed at 60% of the

expected economic returns from the fishery. When price is varied, the revenues from selling the scallops can be almost four times greater when the price is high (\$0.90/k), when compared to a low end price (\$0.30/K) (Figure R7).

When looking at how the fishery of the catarina scallop could provide for the local fishing communities, we compared our scenarios to our client's target. In order to provide income by fishing only in the Ensenada for the 80 fishers that live in the community, fishing profits must generate at least USD\$443,077 in revenue per year (Personal communication, Alejandro Robles). The highest performing scenario would only provide income to support 22 fishermen, which represents about 28% of NOS' target (**Figure R9**).

| Table R2. Mean value of the catch of catarina scallops for |
|---|
| the first 20 years, at a fishing level of 60% of the |
| vulnerable biomass (length>56 mm). Also, the number of |
| years it takes to open the fishery. <i>N</i> = fishery never opens. |

| Scenario | Mean Catch | Fishery opens (yr) |
|----------|--------------|--------------------|
| 1 | \$39,801.52 | 6 |
| 2 | \$110,521.80 | 8 |
| 3 | \$0.00 | Ν |
| 4 | \$92,472.99 | 8 |
| 5 | \$0.00 | Ν |
| 6 | \$0.00 | Ν |
| 7 | \$68,270.96 | 8 |
| 8 | \$0.00 | Ν |
| 9 | \$61,440.27 | 6 |
| 10 | \$113,945.07 | 6 |
| 11 | \$124,333.01 | 5 |
| 12 | \$61,725.41 | 6 |
| 13 | \$114,915.92 | 6 |
| 14 | \$119,088.06 | 5 |
| 15 | \$0.00 | Ν |

Fishery

The Net Present Value of the fishery (NPV_F) exhibits high variability under different scenarios, ranging from -\$6,747,399.46 to \$175,291.54 (**Table R3**). Negative NPV_F are expected given that the fishery includes all the costs associated with the restoration and repopulation of the scallop. Scenario 1 is the only to achieve a non-negative value, which might be due to a lack of investment in



Figure R8. Mean catch value per year in reference to the amount invested in habitat restoration in

habitat restoration and from surveillance reducing illegal fishing up to 5%.

Fishermen NPV (NPV_{FM}) on the other hand, which only considers the costs of surveillance, ranged from -\$242,302.57 to \$1,769,984.47.

Scenarios with a negative NPV_{FM} are those in which the fishery never opens and do not invest in habitat restoration. The scenarios with the highest NPV_{FM} have high restoration investments, increasing the available scallop habitat to either 60% or 100%, increasing the chances for the fishery to open. Once



Figure R9. Mean catch value per year in relation to biomass of the wild population. According to Alejandro Robles (NOS), in order to sustain the livelihoods of all the local fishermen (N=80) they would require USD\$443,077.

again, scenario 11 attains the highest NPV for fishermen, and so was used as the maximum attainable

Table R3. Economic feasibility indicators of a potential catarina scallop fishery in the Ensenada. Fishery NPV includes all costs of restoration, nursery, seeding and surveillance, and would represent the view of a funding organization. Fishing NPV only includes the costs of surveillance and would represent the view of local fishermen cooperatives.

| Scenario | Fishery NPV (\$) | Fishing NPV (\$) | Fisher NPV Ratio | Restoration investment (\$) |
|----------|------------------|------------------|---------------------|--------------------------------|
| 1 | \$175,291.54 | \$280,216.86 | 0.16 | \$0.00 |
| 2 | -\$5,963,507.25 | \$1,082,174.49 | 0.61 | \$7,584,351.93 |
| 3 | -\$347,227.88 | -\$242,302.57 | -0.14 | \$0.00 |
| 4 | -\$6,006,388.70 | \$1,039,293.03 | 0.59 | \$7,584,351.93 |
| 5 | -\$226,076.60 | -\$121,151.28 | -0.07 | \$0.00 |
| 6 | -\$226,076.60 | -\$121,151.28 | -0.07 | \$0.00 |
| 7 | -\$2,703,005.27 | \$577,301.36 | 0.33 | \$3,250,436.54 |
| 8 | -\$547,999.30 | -\$242,302.57 | -0.14 | \$0.00 |
| 9 | -\$2,438,029.79 | \$842,276.84 | 0.48 | \$3,250,436.54 |
| 10 | -\$6,252,685.76 | \$1,299,464.12 | 0.73 | \$7,584,351.93 |
| 11 | -\$5,782,165.41 | \$1,769,984.47 | 1.00 | \$7,584,351.93 |
| 12 | -\$2,724,630.92 | \$861,372.44 | 0.49 | \$3,250,436.54 |
| 13 | -\$6,747,399.46 | \$1,364,262.05 | 0.77 | \$7,584,351.93 |
| 14 | -\$6,538,445.13 | \$1,573,216.38 | 0.89 | \$7,584,351.93 |
| 15 | -\$1,292,056.38 | -\$121,151.28 | -0.07 | \$0.00 |

value in the NPV Ratio. NPV Ratios over 0.5 involve habitat restoration of 100%. NPV Ratios that range from 0-0.49 involve habitat restoration to 60%. Finally, NPV Ratios below 0 do not invest in habitat restoration.



Figure R10. Tradeoff Analysis of the scallop fishery. In the conservation axis is the Biomass ratio and in the economic axis the NPV_{FM} ratio.

Aquaculture

The mean current cost to produce 2,320,000 scallops is \$855,959, and to produce 580,000 scallops it is \$213,990. At a market price fluctuating between \$5.38 and \$7.69 per kilogram of adductor muscle revenues were \$13,255 for 580,000 scallops and \$53,020 for 2,320,000 scallops; the corresponding NPVs at a 3% discount rate for 100 years were -\$2,835,070 and -\$11,340,280 respectively.

Currently it costs \$128,662 to produce 340,000 scallops. In order for aquaculture to break even under the current costs, approximately 4,119,709 scallops need to be produced. This quantity is close to double the current maximum aquaculture potential. This break-even quantity can potentially be achieved by doubling the cage density from 200 to 400 scallops/m2, or by doubling the percentage of aquaculture area occupied by cages from 10% to 20%.

Table R4. Aquaculture Net Present Value for allrestoration scenarios.

| Scenario | Farmed scallops | Aquaculture NPV (US\$) |
|----------|-----------------|------------------------|
| | (Quantity/year) | |
| 1 | 2,320,000 | -\$11,340,280.19 |
| 2 | 0 | \$0.00 |
| 3 | 0 | \$0.00 |
| 4 | 0 | \$0.00 |
| 5 | 580,000 | -\$2,835,070.05 |
| 6 | 2,320,000 | -\$11,340,280.19 |
| 7 | 0 | \$0.00 |
| 8 | 0 | \$0.00 |
| 9 | 580,000 | -\$2,835,070.05 |
| 10 | 0 | \$0.00 |
| 11 | 2,320,000 | -\$11,340,280.19 |
| 12 | 580,000 | -\$2,835,070.05 |
| 13 | 0 | \$0.00 |
| 14 | 580,000 | -\$2,835,070.05 |
| 15 | 0 | \$0.00 |

Habitat restoration

In order to determine the benefits from habitat restoration, we looked at the revenue that fishermen could generate in relation to habitat restoration investment. Habitat restoration investment values range from \$0 to \$7,584,351.93 while mean catch value per year ranges from \$0 to \$207,221.68. In **Figure R8** it's readily apparent the positive relationship between mean catch value and habitat restoration investment. In one case, it is possible to generate \$66,335.86 without investing in habitat restoration. In this scenario, only 5% of wild catch is lost to illegal fishing, while all other scenarios that do not invest in habitat restoration, have 20% or 40% of wild catch lost to illegal fishing.

Surveillance costs

Surveillance to maintain illegal fishing at 5, 20 and 40% was estimated to cost \$32,573, \$16,289, and \$8,143 respectively. The surveillance cost along with the habitat restoration cost (when applicable) was subtracted from wild fishery revenues. As a result, those scenarios with lower illegal fishing were more costly than those with higher illegal fishing.

Tradeoff analysis

We performed a fishery trade off analysis by comparing the fishermen net present value of the wild fishery with the biomass of the wild population. In our model, we assume the total allowable catch (TAC) to be 60% and the B/Bo of a fishery must reach 0.25 for the wild fishery to open. The scenarios with a negative NPV fail to reach the fishery threshold, and so no benefits from fishing can be captured (**Figure R10**). In these cases, a high investment in restoration translates not many ecological or economic returns. In contrast, the scenarios that recover the population to a higher biomass are able to obtain a higher economic return and help to offsets their initial investment.



Figure R11. Mean biomass ratio for all 15 scenarios, after 100 iterations of montecarlo simulations



Figure R12. Mean biomass ratio of one scenario (#2) of 100 iterations of montecarlo simulations , at different levels of stochasticity.

Environmental variability

The use of Montecarlo Simulations (MS) allowed us to introduce environmental variability into our model. Since the sensitivity analysis identified our model to be sensitive to changes in the natural mortality of the scallop (see Annex 2), we used MS to introduce stochasticity through this parameter. For all scenarios, we used the same variability matrix in order to make the results of our different scenarios comparable. Under all scenarios, stochasticity increases the overall variability of the population (**Figure R11**). The intensity of this variability depends on the level of stochasticity introduced. However, the mean of this variation does not appear to significantly change the scallop biomass at different levels of stochasticity (**Figure R12**).

Restoration factors

Habitat

The effect of habitat on recovery was tested by selecting two scenarios where habitat was varied and all other variables were held constant (scenarios 3 and 4); other variables, however, are at play. In both scenarios illegal fishing is removing 20% and legal fishing 60% of the population per year. Seeding only occurs once and at an intensity of 340,000 as opposed to 3 or 6 years. In addition, given that the aquaculture intensity is zero, larvae from scallops in aquaculture cages are not contributing wild population recruitment. These factors prevent the population from reaching a biomass of 1.00. The population with 100% habitat reaches a higher biomass ratio at a slower rate, while the one with 30% habitat reaches a lower biomass ratio at a faster rate (Figure R13). However, the high biomass scenario only takes 3 more years in reaching its carrying capacity. The difference between these two biomass ratios after 20 years is 43%.



Figure R13. Effect of habitat over biomass. The blue line represents habitat at 30% of its historical potential, and the orange line habitat at 100% of its historical potential.



Surveillance

We tested the effect of surveillance on recovery by comparing scenarios where illegal fishing was varied

Figure R14. Effect of illegal fishing on scallop biomass.

to account for different levels of surveillance. We found that illegal fishing has more of an effect on population recovery than seeding and aquaculture, but less than habitat recovery (Figure R14). Unlike

habitat, the effect of illegal fishing pressure on either population size or rate of recovery seems to be moderated by the other variables. When illegal fishing is at 40%, the population does not reach the 0.25

fishery threshold in 100 years. The effect of illegal fishing at 5 or 20% is more difficult to discern; given that we observe scenarios that reach 0.25 in the fewest number of years but others like scenario one do not reach it at all. In the group of scenarios in the 0.6 to 0.8 biomass range, populations subject to 5% fishing pressure always recovered faster than those subject to higher levels of illegal fishing. Scenarios with habitat availability lower than 100% do not follow this pattern, given that some with 20% fishing pressure actually recovering faster than some with 5% illegal fishing. Similarly at 30% of historical habitat availability, scenarios with 40% fishing pressure recover at about the same rate as those with 5% fishing pressure, and consistently faster than the intermediate fishing pressure of 20%.

Aquaculture

We isolated the effect of aquaculture intensity on recovery by selecting two scenarios where aquaculture intensity was varied and all other variables were held constant (Figure R15). High intensity





aquaculture (HIA) results in the biomass recovering at a faster rate than at low intensity aquaculture (LIA). However, after both populations stabilize the HIA scenario grows to be only 1% higher than the LIA scenario. Although the scenario that reaches the highest biomass (i.e. 11) assumes larval input from HIA, of the other scenarios that reach a biomass ratio in the 0.6 to 0.8 range only scenario 14 assumes LAI, while scenarios 13, 10, 2 and 4 assume no aquaculture. Similar aquaculture intensity does not seem to have an effect on the population reaching the 0.25 biomass ratio (Tables R2, R4). Scenarios with HIA can either reach the 0.25BR in the fewest number of years (#11) or not in 100 years (#1, 6).

Seeding

We assume that doubling the seeding amount is possible if the productivity of the nursery is increased. Higher seeding quantity results in a slightly faster recovery time, however, seeding at 340,000 and 680,000 scallops ultimately result in the same population size when the restoration stabilizes (**Figure R16**). Also, a longer seeding period, in this case three years, results in the population reaching a higher biomass ratio in a shorter period of time (Figure R17). After a 20 year period, however, both the one and three year seeding periods result in the same biomass ratio.







Figure R17. Scenarios comparing the effect of number of seeding years on the Catarina biomass ratio.

Discussion

Habitat

Habitat area appears to be the most important factor in restoring the scallop population across the different strategies. It can drive biomass close to historical level in 1978 if it is restored up to 100% of the historical distribution of fishing grounds in the Ensenada. Therefore, the high impact that habitat restoration may have on biomass makes this aspect of the project highly relevant. Scallops have shown to be gregarious settlers in some species (Harvey et al., 1993).

Also, similar restoration projects targeting other species of bivalves have shown that providing shell as bottom substrata can promote the recovery of overexploited populations (Lenihan, 1999), or other habitat features such as seagrass (Peterson et al. 1995) can enhance the recovery of overexploited or depleted populations.

Correspondingly, in our model we multiplied recruitment (R₀) by the suitable habitat in a particular scenario to account for the cumulative effects of habitat restoration on the scallop population. The assumption that recruitment is limited by suitable habitat, however, should be further tested in this particular context. For example, if scallops are dependent on algal turf cover for predation protection, then the scallop population recovery would be tied to algal turf recruitment and survival in the new shell bottom. This would mean that recruitment is not only limited by the amount of shell hash cover and type (e.g. Catarina shells as opposed to Bay scallop shells), but also by the algal cover over the restored shell hash substrate.

In addition, we also assumed that the current suitable habitat was at 30% of the 100% historical precollapse level. This is an assumption with high uncertainty given that we currently have no evidence to corroborate habitat is indeed at 30%. Provided that our assumption is correct, and that suitable habitat in fact is lower than its historical potential of 100% just prior to the collapse of the Catarina fishery, a successful habitat restoration effort should potentially increase suitable habitat to 100%. In fact, all the recovery scenarios in the 0.6 to 0.8 biomass range assume that habitat can be restored to pre-collapse 100%. Conversely, if habitat were already at 100% and other bottlenecks were preventing recovery, or in the case it cannot be restored to 100%, then the next best scenarios become those in the 0.30 to 0.50 biomass range (Figure R3).

Illegal Fishing

Illegal fishing has more of an observable effect on population recovery than seeding and aquaculture, but its effects on either population size or rate of recovery seems to be moderated by these variables and by habitat. In addition to 100% habitat, the top scenarios in the high biomass range all assume 5% illegal fishing; with the exception of scenario four which assumes 20%. These results indicate that the inability to decrease illegal fishing from either 40 or 20 to 5%, is expected to shift these top scenarios to slower recovery at lower biomass ratios as illustrated by scenario 4.

In addition, illegal fishing mortality has a bigger relative effect over biomass than legal fishing, which may be due to the fact that illegal fishermen tend to have a lower selectivity and will take scallops as small as 30mm, when the legal size is 56 mm(Noroeste-Sustentable, 2014). This can be an important consideration if our client seeks to open the Catarina fishery sooner, given that at 40% illegal fishing no scenarios reach 0.25BR.

Our assumption that changes in the level of illegal fishing are only driven by the level of surveillance, allowed us to account for changes and results in a measurable way. However, in addition to surveillance NOS is using other approaches to control illegal fishing such as raising awareness over fisheries declines and involving the community in the restoration effort to increase stewardship over the Ensenada resources. One of our assumptions was that the percent of illegal fishing in a scenario would result in an equivalent take of scallops from the wild fishery; for example 20% illegal fishing would mean illegal removal of 20% of the scallops in the wild population of sizes at or above 30mm. Although it may be difficult to discern what portion of the change in illegal fishing is due to surveillance, and what portion is due to "softer" approaches, the net change can be measured by the surveillance team and targeted to reduce the illegal take of scallops from the wild population.

Seeding

Growth in aquaculture and transplantation of juveniles into the wild has been observed to have a significant effect on increasing the density of an overexploited population of the clam *Mercenaria mercenaria* (Peterson et al., 1995). Moreover, when adult individuals of the scallop *A. irradians* were transplanted to recruitment limited areas from where a scallop population had previously been decimated after a red algal bloom, it increased the density from <1 to 15 scallops per m². In our study, we found that seeding of juveniles into the wild is extremely important for the recovery of the scallop

population in the Ensenada. The initial seeding of 340,000 scallops completed by NOS in 2013 was essential in restarting the process of repopulation, given that the Catarina population collapsed from a density of 6 scallops per m² to 0 scallops per m² in 1979; the scallop continued to be missing many years after depletion (Lango-Reynoso, 1994). This fallow period along with information on the limited larval dispersal of the related species *A. irradians*, lead us to believe that without the initial seeding by NOS habitat restoration or surveillance may have not been enough to bring back the Catarina scallop to the Ensenada. Once past the initial seeding, our results indicate that after 3 years, seeding has less of an observed effect on population recovery than habitat and surveillance, and a similar effect to that of aquaculture.

Once the initial seeding has taken place, seeding quantity followed by seeding period have less of an observed effect on population recovery than habitat, and surveillance, and a similar effect to that of aquaculture. Higher seeding quantity and longer seeding period tend to lead to the population reaching a 0.25BR in fewer years, but the trend is not absolute. Shorter seeding period does result in a population reaching the 0.25BR in more years or not reaching it at all in the 100 year modeling period. This is an important finding given that our client is currently investing in producing more larvae to continue the seeding effort. Longer seeding periods and at a higher quantity, although more costly for our client, generate more jobs or extend the job period for local fishers. It is expected that by working on the repopulation effort these fishers also develop a higher ownership over the resource as they return the Catarina scallops that they or their ancestors took form the Ensenada.

Aquaculture

The negative values of Aquaculture NPV demonstrate that, under the current costs of production, does not provide a profit for the fishermen. The high costs associated with labor makes aquaculture prohibitive under all scenarios, assuming the current production efficiency. Doubling the density from 200 to 400 scallops per m², or doubling the percentage of aquaculture area occupied by cages from 10% to 20% may allow fishermen to make a profit, assuming that the costs remain close to the current production costs. The complexities of transitioning livelihoods from fishing to aquaculture farming should also be considered.

Although aquaculture for profit is not feasible, aquaculture has high potential to serve as a source for spawning stock. Scallops in aquaculture would be protected from predation, fishing mortality, and

provide a consistent supply of larvae to the wild population. However, a study on temperature and predator influence on growth, survival and energy allocation for reproduction on the Catarina scallop (Guerra et al. 2011) found that scallops may not be driven to reproduce in the absence of predators, since the presence of predators allocates energy to growth rather than gonad production. As a result, survivorship is prioritized and spawning is delayed. Although survivorship in aquaculture has the potential to provide a large amount of seed to the natural population, the spawning potential may be significantly reduced if the scallops are in a protective structure.

Economic Feasibility

In assessing the economic feasibility of the Catarina scallop restoration project as a whole, we find that fishery profits from Catarina are highly dependent on habitat restoration, the market price for Catarina and restoration investment.

Habitat Restoration

Our study concludes that habitat restoration is necessary for the fishery to generate profit. Although Figure R3 demonstrates that reducing illegal fishing to 5% may allow the fishery to generate revenue without investing in habitat restoration, according to our analysis, the greater the investment made into habitat restoration, the higher mean catch value possible.

As mentioned in the results section, the fishery must generate at least \$443,077 in revenue per year to sustain the livelihood of the El Manglito fishing community. Among our scenarios, the maximum mean catch value per year is \$207,221.68, which is less than half the target value. Although the Catarina fishery can potentially generate profits, it is not sufficient enough for the fishermen to depend only on Catarina scallops.

When price is varied, the revenues from selling the scallops can be almost four times greater when the price is high (\$0.90/k), when compared to a low end price (\$0.30/K) (Figure R7). Thus is important to consider the effect that the market could have towards achieving the goals of the restoration project. Increasing the profits of the fishery by changing how the product is sold or aiming for more valuable markets (i.e. sustainable certification) would have a significant effect over the expected returns of fishermen.

Model Limitations

Although our model takes into account the major factors affecting restoration, it is not without limits. In our model we assume that biomass is limited to that of the final year when the fishery was open. It is possible, however, that biomass could have been greater before the final year the fishery was open. In situ, the biomass value may be elastic, therefore, depending on the amount of habitat restored, the Ensenada may be able to sustain a greater amount of biomass than our model allows.

The scenarios with negative NPVs are limited by the assumption of our model that the fishery will open when the biomass arrives at 0.25. In practice, the biomass in which the fishery may open is determined by the government agency CRIP. If the fishery were to open at 15%, all the scenarios that currently have a negative NPV would likely have a positive NPV, however, the value would likely be low due to the low biomass.

Our model is also limited by analyzing only the Catarina scallop. The Ensenada provides other species of value, such as the Pen Shell clam. NOS is simultaneously working with the fishermen to recover the Pen Shell clam population. Many El Manglito fishermen have agreed to stop fishing for the Pen Shell clam, and work as patrolmen to discourage any prospective poachers. The Pen Shell has benefited from this surveillance, and Pen Shell stock has recovered over the past 3 years (Noroeste-Sustentable, 2014). Pen Shell clams sell for a higher price than the Catarina scallop. If the Catarina and Pen Shell species are recovered simultaneously, both species may be able to generate enough revenue to sustain the livelihood of the El Manglito Fishing community.

Catarina Market Price

As mentioned previously in the results section, our sensitivity analysis reveals that reductions in price per kilogram are expected to have a larger impact on the NPV of the fishery. For example, a price of \$0.30 would cause the NPVw to be lower than the restoration costs of all analyzed scenarios. This indicates that if the Catarina were to become a species of lower market value, there would be less incentive to restore the Catarina habitat if the market price is too low.

Ultimately, the Catarina fishery has the potential to become economically feasible, especially if restored simultaneously with the Pen Shell clam. According to our results, the biggest obstacle in achieving economic feasibility is the capital to complete habitat restoration. In comparison, similar restoration

projects have shown higher overall costs than profits and have depended heavily on governmental funds to support habitat restoration efforts(Lenihan, 1999). These resources may not be readily available in Mexico. Thus, is important to properly assess the potential costs of scallop habitat restoration in the Ensenada, but also to evaluate local and external market prices into the future.

Environmental

Scallop population biomass is most sensitive to changes in natural mortality (M_{wild}), and Monte Carlo simulation is a useful tool to address the uncertainty of this parameter in our results.

The negative relationship between NPV_f and temperature can provide a glance at how increases in future mean temperatures could significantly affect the scallop population. Given that the natural mortality equation is in a part a function of mean water temperature, the true effect of increased temperature over Catarina scallops should be further tested. However, there is evidence that the optimum range for scallop growth and feeding in the Ensenada between is 19 and 22 degrees Celsius, and that a mean lethal temperature is reached at 29 Celsius.

Climatic events, such as hurricanes are one of the more destructive forces to shallow-water marine environments. Hurricanes of high intensity have been reported to have a huge impact over shellfish populations and the economic activities that depend on fishing them. Under future projections of climate change, it is expected that the frequency of intense climatic events will be significantly higher in the next decades (Bender et al. 2010)

General

The habitat features in the site with highest survival (shell and seagrass and/or algal turf cover) are described by the literature as the main components of the catarina scallop habitat before the population disappeared from the Ensenada (Baqueiro et al., 1981). This would be an important factor to consider for the placement of seed and where to focus restoration efforts. In this sense, it would be important to use the experience from other restoration projects to guide the next steps for the restoration.

The high performing scenarios were found take a relatively longer time to achieve. This is important for restoration planning, because associated with the higher investment of better performing strategies, there would probably be higher expectations of the restoration project between stakeholders. These

expectations would demand faster and better results, and should be taken into account in future decision-making.

Achieving a higher biomass and faster population growth would ultimately provide benefits from the fishery. This could be important in the future planning and management of this population, as a higher biomass could potentially achieve higher population resilience when confronted to severe environmental changes. However, given that genetic diversity and population complexity promotes resilience for sustainable management of fisheries (Hillborn et al., 2003), it is important that the seed production comes from a diverse genetic pool.

Predation, mainly by crabs, snails and some species of fish, has been reported to have a significant impact over catarina scallops in the wild, and to be a threat to bottom aquaculture scallops as well (Lango-Reynoso, 1994). Given its potential effect over the first years of recovery, current predation intensity of catarina scallops should be assessed and density of the main predators estimated. This information could be used to advise the restoration project on when to increase seeding or take other actions to avoid another collapse, especially during the period before reaching carrying capacity.

When considering livelihoods, the highest performing scenario provides income to support 22 fishermen, which represents about 28% of NOS' target (**Figure R9**). It is important then to look at how the recovery of other fishing resources, many of them more valuable than the Catarina scallop (i.e. Pen shell) could contribute to reach this target.

Recommendations

The bioeconomic model generated scenarios under which the Catarina scallop population in the Ensenada recovered at faster or slower rates and at higher and lower levels of B/B_0 . It is important, however, to highlight that each of these scenarios is a combination of different variables and that caution must be taken when teasing them apart. We believe the model results were useful in indicating specific values per variable under which recovery is fastest and more economically feasible.

It is also worth noting that the system that our client NOS is dealing is with extremely variable and requires quick adaptation to new opportunities and challenges. For example, the Ensenada is located in an area prone to hurricanes. If a hurricane where to threaten the area during the restoration of the Catarina population, habitat restoration and seeding may become priorities to reverse damage to the Catarina habitat.

On the other hand, increases in the efficiency to mature scallops in aquaculture may significantly reduce the cost of aquaculture and make it a more attractive option to repopulate and employ more of the local fishers. This could potentially happen through a partnership with a company that has a wellestablished aquaculture technique and knowledge on the subject.

The primary goal of the Catarina restoration is to rebuild the Catarina scallop population in the Ensenada at the fastest rate and lowest cost. With this primary objective in mind we proceed to make the following recommendations:

Restore the Catarina habitat in the historical fishing grounds

Our model results indicate that habitat restoration has the most observable positive effect over the increase of the wild population over time. Habitat is currently limiting the total carrying capacity that the system of the Ensenada can reach, and the total recruitment that the population can achieve. Habitat restoration efforts (Lenihan, 1999) have succeeded at restoring the habitat for oysters. In the case of the Catarina in the Ensenada restoration may be as simple as purchasing Catarina shells from the region and placing them in the area where the historical fishing banks were located. Yet care must be taken to prevent disease outbreaks from introduced pathogens through the shells. We recommend that research is conducted to assess the best strategy to restore habitat. This can be done through the partnerships

that NOS has developed with the Bren School, the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, or the Universidad Autonoma de Baja California Sur.

Continue to the surveillance program in the Ensenada

Our model results indicate that high illegal fishing has a highly negative observed effect on the recovery of the Catarina scallop. Although not part of this Group Project or analyzed in our model, other overfished benthic species such as the Pen Shell scallop are benefiting from such program (Noroeste-Sustentable, 2014). In addition, the efforts by NOS and some of the local fishers to raise awareness among the community about the restoration of the Ensenada should continue as they help support the surveillance program.

The sensitivity analysis also shows that natural mortality is more important than illegal fishing. Continuing to plant scallops at a size of 30 mm will contribute to lower mortality. In addition, maturing the scallops inside cages over restored substrate may help 1) decrease predation, and 2) increase survival as more larvae are able to recruit to the next generation.

Increase the quantity of scallops seeded

Although seeding was a necessary step to bring back the Catarina scallop to the Ensenada, it is also costly. Our model suggest that it may not be necessary to continue seeding for more than three years if seeding occurs at 680,000 and is supported by other variables such as an increase in Catarina suitable habitat, and higher compliance to reduce illegal fishing to 5% (as observed in the results of scenario 10). Even one year of seeding at 340,000 seems to be enough to recover the population of Catarina faster and at higher biomass if surveillance is high and the Catarina suitable habitat in the fishing areas is restored to 100%.

Establish or further develop partnerships with the private sector and with the academic sector

Community engagement, in the vision of restoring the Ensenada and the Catarina population, is paramount in making restoration efforts successful in the long term. Nevertheless, we must also continue to recognize that working with community members to create new job sources through the diversification of the use of marine resources is essential in ensuring a successful and long lasting restoration. Our model results suggest that scaling up the aquaculture of the Catarina scallop to commercial levels is too costly given the current production costs. Nevertheless, if partnerships are developed with sustainable aquaculture enterprises who are knowledgeable on the subject, stakeholders may be able to increase the aquaculture production efficiency and significantly reduce costs.

The price of the Catarina scallop, in addition to production efficiency, is another reason why the value of the wild fishery and aquaculture generate relatively low profits. Increases in price though new markets and partnerships can significantly support the restoration, as funds from scallop sales serve to partially offset the costs of habitat restoration, surveillance and seeding.

Conclusion

The Catarina scallop is a species of high value to artisanal fishers in Baja California Sur. In 1978, the fishery collapsed in the Ensenada de La Paz, forcing fishermen to find alternative products to fish, sometimes in faraway locations. Although there are no studies on the reason for the collapse, theories include habitat degradation, climatic variation and overfishing. Nevertheless the species has not naturally recovered even after 30 years of the fishery being closed. Noroeste Sustentable and the fishermen of El Manglito are working in collaboration to repopulate the Ensenada with Catarina scallops in hopes to reopen the fishery. Over the last year, the fishermen have grown Catarina scallops from seed to juvenile size in a nursery until a size of 30 mm. The scallops are then released into the wild, in hopes that they grow to spawning size and release larvae into the water column.

The Bren School designed an experiment and confirmed that the Catarina scallops could actually survive on the seafloor of the Ensenada de La Paz. We then created a bioeconomic model that included biological, ecological, social, political and economic input parameters. Fifteen restoration scenarios were created that focused on variable levels of suitable habitat availability, aquaculture intensity, illegal fishing pressure, and seeding quantities and time periods. We ran the 15 scenarios through the bioeconomic model and found that habitat restoration has the greatest influence on the Catarina recovery. The model also shows that although aquaculture can generate revenue, the nursery and aquaculture costs are too high to make a profit.

Our recommendations to NOS and the fishermen of El Manglito are to restore the Catarina habitat in historical fishing area, to continue the surveillance program in the Ensenada, to increase the quantity of scallops seeded, and to continue to establish and develop relationships with the academic and private sector to ensure sounds strategies that maximize the ecologic and economic sustainability of the Catarina scallop in the long term.

References

Agnew, D.J., Pearce, J., Pramod, G., Peatman, T., Watson, R., Beddington, J.R., and Pitcher, T.J. (2009). Estimating the Worldwide Extent of Illegal Fishing. PLos ONE *4*, e4570.

Arnold, W.S. (1995). Summary Report on the Calico Scallop (Argopecten gibbus): Fishery of the Southeastern United States (St. Petersburg, Florida 33701-5095: Florida Department of Environmental Protection).

Arnold, W.S., Marelli, D.C., Bray, C.P., and Harrison, M.M. (1998). Recruitment of bay scallops Argopecten irradians in Floridan Gulf of Mexico waters: scales of coherence. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. *170*, 143–157.

Bachelet, G. (1980). Growth and Recruitment of the Tellinid Bivalve Macoma balthica at the Southern Limit of Its Geographical Distribution, the Gironde Estuary (SW France). Mar. Biol. *59*, 105–117.

Baqueiro, E.C., Pena, I., and Masso, J.A. (1981). Analysis de una Poblacion Sobreexplotada de Argopecten circularis (Sowerby, 1835) en la Ensenada de La Paz, B.C.S., Mexico. Cienc. Pesq. Inst Nat Pesca Mex. 257-65 *I*(*2*), 57–65.

Von-Bertalanffy, L. (1957). The Quarterly Review of Biology. 32, 217–231.

Blue Ocean Institute (2012). Mexican Bay Scallops (Blue Ocean Institute).

Bricelj, V.M., Epp, J., and Maloui, R.E. (1987). Intraspecific variation in reproductive and somatic growth of bay scallops Argopecten irradians. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. *36*, 123–137.

Brumbaugh, R.D., Beck, M.W., Cohen, L.D., Craig, L., and P., H. (2006). A Practitioners' Guide to the Design and Monitoring of Shellfish Restoration Projects: An Ecosystem Services Approach. The Nature Conservancy, Arlington, VA.

Ceccherelli, V.U., and Rossi, R. (1984). Settlement, growth and production of the mussel Mytilus galloprovincialis. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. *16*, 173–184.

Davis, K.L., Russ, G.R., Williamson, D., and Evans, R.D. (2004). Surveillance and poaching on inshore reefs of the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park. Coast. Manag. *32*, 373–387.

Eckman, J.E. (1987). The role of hydrodynamics in recruitment, growth, and survival of Argopecten irradians (L.) and Anomia simplex (D'Orbigny) within eelgrass meadows. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol *106*, 165–191.

Environmental Law Institute (2011). Gulf of Mexico habitat conservation & restoration: a look at the five U.S. Gulf States' legal and institutional frameworks.

FAO (2014). National Aquaculture Legislation Overview: Mexico (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations).

Felix-Pico, E.F. (1994). Scallops: Biology, Ecology and Aquaculture (Elsevier Science).

Felix-Pico, E.F., Tripp-Quezada, A., and Sigh-Cabanillas, J. (1989). Antecedentes en el cultivo de Argopecten circularis (Sowerby), en Baja California Sur, Mexico. Inv Mar CICIMAR 4.

Felix-Pico, E.F., Tripp-Quezada, A., Castro-Ortiz, J.L., Serrano-Castillas, G., Gonzalez-Ramirez, P.G., Villalejo-Fuerte, M., Palomares-Garcia, R., Garcia-Dominguez, F.A., Mazon-Suastegui, M., Bojorquez-Verastica, G., et al. (1997). Repopulation and culture of the Pacific Calico scallops in Bah´ıa Concepcion, Baja California Sur, Mexico. Aquac. Int. *5*, 551–563.

Froese, R., and Pauly, D. (2000). FishBase 2000: concepts, design and data sources. (Los Baños, Laguna, Philippines: ICLARM).

Gaines, S. (2014). The State of Global Fisheries (La Paz, B.C.S. Mexico).

Griffiths, R.J. (1981). Population dynamics and growth of the bivalve Chromytilus meridionalis (Kr.) at Different Tidal Levels. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 12, 101–118.

Gwyther, D., and McShane, P.E. (1988). Growth rate and natural mortality of the scallop Pecten alba Tate in Port Phillip Bay, Australia, and evidence for changes in growth rate after a 20-year period. Fish. Res. 347–361.

Harvey, M., Bourget, E., and Miron, G. (1993). Settlement of Iceland scallop Chlamys islandica spat in response to hydroids and filamentous red algae: field observations and laboratoty experiments. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. *99*, 283–292.

Hillborn, R., Branch, T.A., Ernst, B., Magnusson, A., Minte-Vera, C.V., Scheuerell, M.D., and Valero, J.L. (2003). State of the world's fisheries. Annu Rev Env. Resour *28*, 359–399.

Kalikoski, D. (2012). Cooperatives in small-scale fisheries: enabling successes through community empowerment (Rome, Italy: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations).

Lango-Reynoso, F. (1994). Estudios basicos sobre depredadores activos y potenciales, para el desarrollo del cultivo de Argopecten circularis. CICIMAR.

Lenihan, H.S. (1999). Physical-biological coupling of oyster reefs: how habitat structure influences individual performance. Ecol. Monogr. *69*, 251–275.

Leon-Carballo, G., Reinecke-Reyes, M.A., and Cesena-Espinoza, N. (1991). Abundancia y Estructura Poblacional de los Bancos de Almeja Catarina Argopecten circularis (Sowerby, 1835) Durante Abrin de 1988, en Bahia Concepcion, B.C.S. Cienc. Pesq. Inst Nat Pesca Mex. 257-65 35–40.

Libecap, G. (2013). Cost Benefit Analysis.

MacDonald, B.A., and Thompson, R.J. (1985). Influence of temperature and food availability on the ecological energetics of the giant scallop Placopecten magellanicus. I. Growth rates of shell and somatic tissue. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. *25*, 279–294.

Maeda-Martinez, A.N., Reynoso-Granados, T., Solis-Marin, F., Leija-Tristan, A., Aurioles-Gamboa, D., Salinas-Zavala, C., Lluch-Cota, D., Ormart-Castro, P., and Felix-Pico, E. (1993). A model to explain the

formation of catarina scallop, Argopecten circularis (Sowerby, 1835), beds, in Magdalena Bay, Mexico. Aquac. Fish. Manag. 24, 323–339.

Maeda-Martinez, A.N., Ormart-Castro, P., Mendez, L., Acosta, B., and Sicard, M.T. (2000). Scallop growout using a new bottom-culture system. Aquaculture *189*, 73–84.

Medina, B., Guzman, H.M., and Mair, J.M. (2007). Failed recovery of a collapsed scallop (Argopecten ventricosus) fishery in Las Perlas Archipelago, Panama. J. Shellfish Res. 26, 9–15.

Noroeste-Sustentable (2014). Personal communication.

Peterson, C.H., Summerson, H.C., and Huber, J. (1995). Replenishment of hard clam stocks using hatchery seed: combined importance of bottom type, seed type, planting season, and density. J. Shellfish Res. *14*, 293–300.

Plascencia, M. (2014). Catarina Financials.

SAGARPA Carta Estatal de Pesca y Acuacultura de Baja California Sur (SAGARPA, CONAPESCA, Gobierno del Estado BCS, Secretaria de Pesca BCS, CIBNOR, CONACYT, CICIMAR, IPN).

Shanks, A.L., Grantham, B.A., and Carr, M.H. (2003). Propagule dispersal distance and the size and spacing of marine reserves. Ecol. Appl. *13*, S159–S169.

Sparre, P., and Venema, S.C. (1998). Introduction to tropical fish stock assessment. Part 1: Manual.

Summerson, H.C., and Peterson, C.H. (1990). Recruitment failure of the bay scallop, Argopecten irradians concentricus, during the first red tide, Ptychodiscus brevis, outbreak recorded in North Carolina. Estuaries *13*, 322–331.

Thayer, G.W., and Stuart, H.H. (1974). Mar. Fish. Rev. 36, 27-30.

Villalejo-Fuerte, and Ochoa-Baez (2006). Scallops: Biology, Ecology and Aquaculture (Elsevier Science).

Wolff, M., Taylor, M., Mendo, J., and Yamashiro, C. (2007). A catch forecast model for the Peruvian scallop(Argopecten purpuratus) based on estimators of spawning stock and settlement rate. Ecol. Model. *209*, 333–341.

Yoshida, Y.M., and Alva, C.P. (1977). Densidad y distribucion de la almeja Catarina en la Ensenada de La Paz, B.C.S. Informe de Labores de 1977. Cent. Inv Biol Baja Calif. Sur AC 91–109.

Ronald Yates. 1976. "Liza' Lashes Baja California." The Chicago Tribune, October 4.

Annex 1

Testing Catarina Survivorship on the Substrate of the Ensenada

Methods

A total of 320 juvenile scallops with a mean length of 30mm were selected from the scallop nursery. We used scallops of this size to allow for an easier recognition during measurements. We placed an equal amount of scallops (N=40) inside cages in 4 different habitat types, which are refered as the following: 1) Historical, 2) Concession, 3) Deep, 4) Mud (Table A).

| Table A1. Experimental sites | | | | | | | |
|------------------------------|---|---------------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|
| | Historical | Concession | Deep | Mud | | | |
| Habitat composition | Sand Shell Seagrass Algae | Shell hash Algae | Shell hash Sand Mud Algae | Mud | | | |
| Habitat quality | Good | Intermediate | Intermediate | Poor | | | |
| Current Speed | Low | High | High | Low | | | |
| Other features | Described by experts as ideal site for the Catarina scallop to survive. | Protected from illegal fishing. | Protected from abrupt temperature changes (6 m). | Near water treatment plan, expected to be unsuitable for the scallop to grow, with very low productivity | | | |

Eight cages were built with a PVC frame and mesh walls. Each cage was 1-by-1 m surface, and a height of 0.5 m. Two cages were randomly placed in each of the four sites. This is to account for a replicate case, and also to have a backup cage in case of theft. The cages were anchored down to the seafloor by hammering down the legs of the frames into the seafloor. The scallops were transported to the sites in a large plastic tub, with fresh water replacement every few minutes. Forty scallops were placed in each cage, because according to fishermen this is the amount of scallops that would naturally live together in a 1-m² area. The scallops were placed directly on the bottom of the ocean floor. This allows the scallops to be exposed to the same conditions of substrate and water quality, but with protection to predators. After placement, scallops were counted and cages were cleaned approximately every two weeks for 45 days. Cages were scrubbed with a brush to ensure a flow of water through the mesh walls. During

cleaning, a visual survey was performed around the cages to see if any scallops escaped. During each resampling event, the diver opened the cage and felt the bottom for scallops and scallop shells. Living scallops were picked up and counted out in another bag. Dead and empty shells were brought up to the surface and kept as samples. Scallop size, namely length and height were measured at the beginning and at the end of the experiment to find the mean growth at different sites. During the final survey, the scallops from each cage were collected and measured. The survival experiment team consisted of Nicole Corpuz, Mary Luna, Raul Cosio (UABCS), Margarita Gutierrez (UABCS), expert diver Guillermo Mendez Camacho, and "panga" captain Hubert Mendez Camacho.



Figure A1. Map of Experiment sites and Historical fishing ground, according to Baqueiro and Yoshida.

Results

Each site was sampled at least four times, with the exception of the cages in the deep site. Consistent resampling was difficult due to harsh environmental conditions, such as strong currents and poor visibility, and also due to the inability to secure a ride to each site. The Historical site is located in an

area with low current speed, less than one meter visibility, and sand, shell and sea grass and algae substrate. A total of 66 scallops out of 80 survived at the end of the experiment, resulting in a survivorship rate of 82.5%. The average daily growth rate was 0.25 mm/d. The concession site is located in the channel of the Ensenada, has a high current speed, and two-meter visibility. The habitat is characterized by sand, shell and some sea grass and algae cover. A total of 5 scallops survived, resulting in a survivorship rate of 6.25%. The average daily growth rate was 0.32 mm/d.

| Site | Historical | site | Concessio | n | Deep | | Muddy | |
|---------|------------|------|-----------|----|------|----|-------|----|
| Cage# | 1 | 2 | 1 | 2 | 1 | 2 | 1 | 2 |
| 7/10/13 | 40 | 40 | 40 | 40 | 40 | 40 | 40 | 40 |
| 7/25/13 | 31 | 39 | 35 | 38 | 1 | 5 | 22 | 22 |
| 8/9/13 | | 20 | 0 | 19 | | | | |
| 8/14/13 | | | | | | | 11 | 22 |
| 8/16/13 | 34 | 32 | | | | | | |
| 8/20/13 | | | 0 | 5 | | | | |
| Final | 34 | 32 | 0 | 5 | 0 | 0 | 11 | 22 |

Table A2. Table of survivorship for each experiment site.

Discussion

Survivorship

The Historical site had the highest survival (82.5%). The visibility at this site was low, and the substrate was dense, with a lot of plant matter, sand, mud, and shell. Because of this, it was difficult to discern whether the missing scallops were victim to predation, died naturally, got lost in the substrate, or, least likely, escaped the cage.

The concession site had the lowest average survivorship rate of 12.5%. This site had fairly good visibility in which it is possible to see the substrate from the top of the cage. It was located in a sandy site, with minimum shell and plant cover. No empty shells were found, however, deep channels were formed under the cages. We believe that the strong current created these channels, providing a manner for the scallops to escape with the force of the current.

| Average | Historical Site | Concession | Deep | Muddy |
|----------------------------------|-----------------|------------|------|-------|
| Duration of Experiment (days) | 37 | 31 | 35 | 16 |
| Quantity Survived | 33 | 5 | 3 | 16 |
| Percent Survived | 82.5 | 12.5 | N/A | 41.25 |
| Height (mm) | 39.5 | 43.6 | N/A | 37.9 |
| Length (mm) | 41.5 | 45.8 | N/A | 39.1 |
| Growth rate/day (mm) | 0.25 | 0.32 | N/A | 0.24 |

Table A3. Experiment duration, survivorship, ending height, ending length, and growth rate per day.

We were unable to calculate the survivorship rate for the deep site because deep channels were found beneath both cages, allowing the scallops to escape, possibly with the current. No empty shells were found in or around the cages. Divers scanned the area around the cages, and no scallops were found, indicating that the current likely moved the scallops, since scallops do not typically move long distances. We decided to terminate the experiment early because of the low survivorship rate, the inability to repair damaged cages, and also the possibility that the scallops would be lost ,.

The average survivorship at the muddy site was 41.25%. This site had extremely poor visibility, warmer temperatures than the other sites, and the substrate was fine mud. Empty unbroken shells were found inside the cage, indicating the scallops died of natural mortality or suffocation. The fishermen believe that the surviving scallops survived by attaching themselves to the mesh walls of the cages.

Growth

The average shell size was highest at the concession site, with average height of 43.6mm and length of 45.8mm. The growth rate at this site was 0.32mm per day. The average size and growth rate may be biased because it was a mean taken from only five individuals. However, the flow of water was colder, faster and had frequent



exchange of water from the Bay of La Paz, so Figure A2. Growth Rate in mm per day for each site.

those factors may have also played a role in the high average shell size.

The average size and growth rate was lowest at the muddy site, with an average height of 37.9mm and length of 39.1mm. The growth rate was 0.24mm per day. This low size and rate may be due to the poor water quality in the area, low water exchange from the Bay of La Paz, and the unfavorable muddy substrate.

The historical site had an average shell height of 39.5mm and length of 41.5mm. This site had the highest surviving individuals, indicating that among all the sites, the historical site has the lowest standard error.

Conclusion

This experiment has shown that the Catarina scallops can survive in the Ensenada; however, current speed, substrate and temperature may play an important factor in determining survival rates. Based on this experiment, the Catarina scallops can survive on various types of substrates, with or without plant cover, and areas of various temperatures. However, the type of substrate cover and temperature play a significant role in the growth rate of the scallops. Further tests need to be done with more cages and temperature gauges to conduct a more scientific analysis.

Annex 2

Sensitivity analysis

The biomass ratio in our model was found to be most sensitive to changes in the natural mortality. We compared natural mortality (M_{wild}) to legal and illegal fishing, growth parameters and virgin recruitment found that natural mortality is consistently the strongest driver of B_{100}/B_0 (Figure **A**, appendix **SA**). We assess this effect further in the direct relationship between temperature (an input to mortality) and fishery profits, below.



Natural Mortality

Table AA1. Sensitivity analysis heat map of natural mortality against illegal fishing level. Here, we show how these parameters affect changes in biomass ratio over 100 years, The colorbar shows whether the biomass is high or low under each combination.

Illegal fishing was also compared against legal fishing and had a larger influence on B_{100}/B_0 (appendix **SA**). We also vary illegal fishing pressure in our scenarios to account for this significance and the unpredictability of this parameter (see Scenario Biomass Outputs).

Total profits from the wild Catarina fishery were compared over a range of costs for habitat restoration per hectare of recovered benthos and prices per kilogram of scallops. Each factor was assessed over a realistic range of values and total net present value (NPV) across 100 years of fishing was calculated (Table **#B**). Both of these parameters affect total NPV, but price per kilogram of scallops is the stronger indicator. The direct relationship between price and NPV is further assessed below.
Table AA2: Sensitivity output of cost of habitat restoration (USD \$ per hectare, horizontal) against price of scallops (USD \$/kg scallops, vertical). Changes in in NVP of 100 years of fishing are reported. Values do vary based on costs or restoration but price per kg of scallops is the stronger indicator. Black line indicates zero profit limit.

| | 5000 | 6000 | 7000 | 8000 | 9000 | 10000 |
|-----|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|
| 0.3 | -1409365 | -2189956 | -2970547 | -3751137 | -4531728 | -5312319 |
| 0.4 | -267696 | -1048287 | -1828877 | -2609468 | -3390059 | -4170649 |
| 0.5 | 873974 | 93383 | -687208 | -1467798 | -2248389 | -3028980 |
| 0.6 | 2015643 | 1235052 | 454462 | -326129 | -1106720 | -1887310 |
| 0.7 | 3157312 | 2376722 | 1596131 | 815540 | 34950 | -745641 |
| 0.8 | 4298982 | 3518391 | 2737800 | 1957210 | 1176619 | 396028 |
| 0.9 | 5440651 | 4660060 | 3879470 | 3098879 | 2318288 | 1537698 |
| | 6582320 | 5801730 | 5021139 | 4240548 | 3459958 | 2679367 |